Applied Differential Equations and Linear Algebra

by

Grant B. Gustafson

Contents

Α	Course for Science and Engineering	1
	• Organization	1
	• Prerequisites	1
	• Survey course	1
	• Conventional Course	2
	• To the Student \ldots	2
	\bullet Work and School	3
1	Fundamentals	1
	1.1 Exponential Modeling	2
	Three Examples	2
	Background	2
	Growth-Decay Model	3
	\bullet How to Solve a Growth-Decay Equation	4
	Newton Cooling Model	4
	• Stirring Effects	5
	Population Modeling	5
	• Malthusian Population Model	6
	• Verhulst Logistic Model	6
	Examples	7
	Details and Proofs	10
	1.2 Exponential Application Library	16
	Light Intensity	16
	Electric Circuits	17
	Interest	18
	Radioactive Decay	19
	• Radiocarbon Dating	19
	• Tree Rings	20

	Chemical Reactions	21
	Drug Elimination	21
	Examples	21
	Details and Proofs	27
1.3	Differential Equations	31
	First Order Differential Equation	31
	Solutions and Answers	32
	• Applied Models	32
	• Answers	32
	• Uniqueness	33
	Explicit and Implicit Equations	33
	Numeric Tables	34
	Graphics	35
	Examples	35
1.4	Direction Fields	40
	What's a Direction Field?	40
	Solution Curves and Direction Fields	41
	Rules for Drawing Threaded Solutions	41
	How to Construct a Direction Field Graphic	42
	Two Methods for Selecting Grid Points \ldots .	43
	How to Make Lineal Elements	44
	Examples	44
1.5	Phase Line and Bifurcation Diagrams	51
	Drawing Phase Portraits	52
	Drain and Spout	53
	Stability Test	54
	Phase Line Diagram for the Logistic Equation $\ $.	55
	Direction Field Plots	55
	Bifurcations	56
	• Fish Harvesting	56
	Stability and Bifurcation Points	57
	Examples	57
	Proofs and Details	60
1.6	Computing and Existence	63
	Three Key Examples	63

		Why Not "Put it on the computer?" $\ldots \ldots \ldots 64$
		Closed-Form Existence-Uniqueness Theory \ldots 65
		• Dsolve Engine in Maple $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 65$
		• Special Equation Preview
		General Existence-Uniqueness Theory 67
		• General Existence Theory in Applications $\ldots \ldots 67$
2	Firs	st Order Differential Equations 74
	2.1	Quadrature Method
		Examples
		River Crossing
		Details and Proofs
	2.2	Separable Equations
		Finding a Separable Form
		Non-Separability Tests
		Separated Form Test
		Variables-Separable Method 83
		Finding Equilibrium Solutions
		Finding Non-Equilibrium Solutions 85
		Theoretical Inversion
		Explicit and Implicit Solutions 85
		Examples
	2.3	Linear Equations
		Homogeneous Equation $y' + p(x)y = 0$ 94
		Non-Homogeneous Equation $y' + p(x)y = r(x)$ 95
		Integrating Factor Method
		Classifying Linear and Non-Linear Equations \dots 97
		Special Linear Equations
		Examples
		Details and Proofs
	2.4	Undetermined Coefficients
		• The Method $\ldots \ldots 104$
		• Undetermined Coefficients Illustrated $\ldots \ldots \ldots 104$
		• A Correction Rule Illustration $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 106$
		Examples $\ldots \ldots 107$
	2.5	Linear Applications

	Brine Mixing $\ldots \ldots 111$
	\bullet One Input and One Output $\ .$
	• Two-Tank Mixing $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 112$
	Residential Heating and Cooling
	• No Sources \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 113
	• Half-Time Insulation Constant 113
	• Winter Heating
	• Summer Air Conditioning
	• Evaporative Cooling $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 114$
	Examples $\ldots \ldots 115$
	Details and Proofs $\ldots \ldots 121$
2.6	Kinetics
	Newton's Laws $\ldots \ldots 125$
	Velocity and Acceleration
	Free Fall with Constant Gravity
	Air Resistance Effects
	• Linear Air Resistance $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 127$
	• Nonlinear Air Resistance
	Modeling Remarks
	Parachutes
	Lunar Lander
	Escape velocity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 131$
	Examples $\ldots \ldots 132$
	Details and Proofs $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 137$
2.7	Logistic Equation
	Logistic Models
2.8	Science and Engineering Applications
	Draining a Tank
	Stefan's Law
	Tsunami
	Gompertz Tumor Equation
	Parabolic Mirror
	Logarithmic Spiral
	Examples $\ldots \ldots 154$
	Details and Proofs

	2.9	Exact Equations and Level Curves $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		The Potential Problem and Exactness $\ .$
		The Method of Potentials
		Examples $\ldots \ldots 164$
		Remarks on the Method of Potentials $\ldots \ldots \ldots 165$
		Details and Proofs
		• A Popular Method $\ldots \ldots 166$
	2.10	Special equations
		Homogeneous-A Equation
		Homogeneous-C Equation
		Bernoulli's Equation
		Integrating Factors and Exact Equations 168
		Examples $\ldots \ldots 169$
		Details and Proofs $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 172$
9	Tin	Algebraia Equations
5	2 1	Linear Systems of Equations 175
	3.1	The Three Possibilities
		Conorol Linear Systems
		The Taollit of Three Pules
		Solving Equations with Coometry 178
		Plane Coopertry
		• Flane Geometry
		• Space Geometry
	२	Filmstring and Toolkit Sequences
	J .2	Load Variables
		Unique Solution 186
		No Solution 187
		Infinitely Many Solutions
		Last Toolkit Frame to Conoral Solution 180
		Ceneral Solution and the Last Frame Algorithm 100
	33	Ceneral Solution Theory 194
	0.0	Equations for Points Lines and Planes 194
		Ceneral Solutions
		Beduced Echelon System 106
		Detecting a Reduced Echolon System 106
		\bullet Determing a reduced Deficient System $\dots \dots \dots$

		Rank and Nullity
		• Determining rank and nullity
		Computers and Reduced Echelon Form $\ldots \ldots 197$
		Elimination $\ldots \ldots 197$
		Uniqueness, Lead Variables and RREF 199
		Numerical Optimization
		Avoiding Fractions
		Examples and Methods
	3.4	Basis, Dimension, Nullity and Rank
		Basis Illustration
		• Non-uniqueness of a Basis $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 208$
		Nullspace
		\bullet How to Find the Nullspace 209
		• Basis for the Nullspace
		• An Illustration $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 210$
		The Three Possibilities Revisited $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 210$
		• No Solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 210$
		• Infinitely Many Solutions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 210$
		• Unique Solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 211$
		Existence of Infinitely Many Solutions 211
		Examples and Methods
	3.5	Answer Check, Proofs and Details
		Answer Check Algorithm
		Failure of Answer Checks
		Minimal Parametric Solutions
1	Fine	t Order Numerical Methods 224
4	4 1	Solving $u' = F(x)$ Numerically 224
	T . I	• How to make an ry -table 225
		• How to make a connect_the-dots graphic 226
		Review of Numerical Integration 231
		Rectangular Rule
		• Trapezoidal Rule
		• Simpson's Rule
		• Simpson's Polynomial Rule
		• Remarks on Simpson's Rule

	• Quadratic Interpolant Q
4.2	Solving $y' = f(x, y)$ Numerically
	• Euler's method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 237$
	• Heun's method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 237$
	\bullet Runge-Kutta RK4 method
	• Relationship to calculus methods $\ldots \ldots \ldots 237$
	Examples and Methods
	• Motivation for the three methods $\ldots \ldots \ldots 242$
4.3	Error in Numerical Methods
	Numerical Errors
	• Cumulative Error $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 246$
	• Local Error
	• Roundoff Error
	• Truncation Error
	• Landau Symbol $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 248$
	• Finite Blowup of Solutions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 248$
	• Numerical Instability
	• Stiff Problems
	Cumulative Error Estimates
4.4	Computing π , ln 2 and e
	Computing $\pi = \int_0^1 4(1+x^2)^{-1} dx$
	Computing $\ln 2 = \int_0^1 dx / (1+x) \dots \dots \dots 253$
	Computing e from $y' = y, y(0) = 1 \dots 254$
4.5	Earth to the Moon
	The Jules Verne Problem
	A Numerical Experiment
	Details for (1) and (3)
4.6	Skydiving
	• Velocity Model
	• Distance Model $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 264$
	• Terminal Velocity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 264$
	• A Numerical Experiment
	• Ejected Baggage
	• Variable Mass
4.7	Lunar Lander

		Constant Gravitational Field
		Variable Gravitational Field
		Modeling
	4.8	Comets
		• Planet Mercury
		• Halley's Comet
		History
		Kepler's Initial Value Problem
		Eccentric Anomaly and Elliptical Orbit 274
		Comet Halley's Positions each Year
		Halley's Comet Animation
		• Improved Animation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 276$
	4.9	Fish Farming
		Population Dynamics of Fisheries
		Logistic Systems
		Maple Code for Figures 17 and 18
-	т.	
h	Lind	
0	E 1	Verteen end Metricer
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Matrix 290
J	5.1	ear Algebra 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290
J	5.1	ear Algebra 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 290 • Free Vector Model 291
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291
J	5.1	ear Algebra 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291 • Gibbs Vector Model 292
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291 • Gibbs Vector Model 292 • Comparison of Vector Models 292
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291 • Gibbs Vector Model 292 • Comparison of Vector Models 292 • Vector Spaces and the Toolkit 293
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291 • Gibbs Vector Model 292 • Comparison of Vector Models 292 • Vector Spaces and the Toolkit 293 • Subspaces and Data Analysis 294
J	5.1	Vectors and Matrices 289 Vectors and Matrices 290 • Fixed Vector Model 290 • The Mailbox Analogy 290 • Free Vector Model 291 • Physics Vector Model 291 • Gibbs Vector Model 292 • Comparison of Vector Models 292 • Vector Spaces and the Toolkit 293 • Subspaces and Data Analysis 294 • Linear Combinations and Closure 297
J	5.1	Part Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298
J	5.1	Part Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298
J	5.1	Part Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298• Matrices are Vector Packages300C202
J	5.1	Part Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298• Matrices are Vector Packages300• Computer Storage300
J	5.1	Part Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• The Mailbox Analogy291• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298• Matrices are Vector Packages300• Matrix Addition and Scalar Multiplication301• Di tit A Di termal292
J	5.1	Par Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298• Matrices are Vector Packages300• Matrix Addition and Scalar Multiplication301• Digital Photographs301
J	5.1	Par Algebra289Vectors and Matrices290• Fixed Vector Model290• The Mailbox Analogy290• Free Vector Model291• Physics Vector Model291• Gibbs Vector Model292• Comparison of Vector Models292• Vector Spaces and the Toolkit293• Subspaces and Data Analysis294• Linear Combinations and Closure297• The Parking Lot Analogy298• Vector Algebra298• Matrices are Vector Packages300• Computer Storage300• Matrix Addition and Scalar Multiplication301• Digital Photographs301• Color Separation Illustration302

	• Visualization of matrix multiply $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 306$
	• Special Matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 307$
	• Square Matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 307$
	• Matrix Algebra
	• Inverse Matrix
5.2	Matrix Equations
	• Linear Equations
	• Elementary Row Operations
	\bullet Documentation of Row Operations
	• RREF Test \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 318
	• Elimination Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 319$
	• Toolkit Sequence $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 320$
	• Finding Inverses
	• Elementary Matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 324$
	\bullet Constructing an Elementary Matrix E
	\bullet Constructing E^{-1} from an Elementary Matrix E_{-} . 326
	• Illustration $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 327$
	Examples and Methods
	Details and Proofs
5.3	Determinants and Cramer's Rule
	Unique Solution of a 2×2 System $\ldots \ldots \ldots 337$
	Determinants of Order 2
	Unique Solution of an $n \times n$ System $\ldots \ldots 337$
	Determinant Notation for Cramer's Rule 338
	Sarrus' Rule for 3×3 Matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots 339$
	College Algebra Definition of Determinant 339
	Four Determinant Properties
	Elementary Matrices and the Four Rules 340 $$
	Additional Determinant Rules
	Determinant of a Transpose
	Cofactor Expansion $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 341$
	The Adjugate Matrix
	The Inverse Matrix
	Determinants of Elementary Matrices
	• Determinant Product Rule

	Cramer's Rule and the Determinant Product For-
	mula
	Examples
	The Cayley-Hamilton Theorem
	An Applied Definition of Determinant $\ldots \ldots 351$
	• Permutation Matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 351$
	Derivations: Cofactors and Cramer's Rule 353
	Three Properties that Define a Determinant 355
5.4	Independence, Span and Basis
	Basis and General Solution
	Independence, Span and Basis
	The Vector Spaces \mathcal{R}^n
	Function Spaces
	Other Vector Spaces
	Independence and Dependence
	Independence and Dependence Tests for Fixed Vec-
	tors $\ldots \ldots 375$
	Independence Tests for Functions
	Application: Vandermonde Determinant 379
	Examples
	Details and Proofs
5.5	Basis, Dimension and Rank
	Largest Subset of Independent Fixed Vectors $\ .$ 397
	Rank and Nullity
	Nullspace, Column Space and Row Space $\ .$ 400
	Examples $\ldots \ldots 401$
	Details and Proofs
	Equivalent Bases
5.6	Linear 2nd Order Constant Equations
	Structure of Solutions
	Examples
	Proofs and Details
5.7	Continuous Coefficient Theory
	Continuous–Coefficient Equations
	Examples and Methods
	Proofs and Details

5.8	Higher Order Linear Constant Equations
	Picard-Lindelöf Theorem
	General Solution
	Solution Structure
	Fundamental Results
	How to Solve Equations of Order $n \ldots \ldots 443$
	• Root Multiplicity $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 444$
	• Atom Lists
	Examples and Methods
	Proofs and Details
5.9	Variation of Parameters
	• Homogeneous Equation $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 453$
	• Independence
	• History of Variation of Parameters
	Examples and Methods
	Proofs and Details $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 455$
5.10	Undetermined Coefficients
	• Requirements
	The Trial Solution Method
	Euler Solution Atoms in the General Solution 461
	• Undetermined Coefficients Rule I
	\bullet Undetermined Coefficients Rule II \hdots
	• Grouping Atoms $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 463$
	Undetermined Coefficient Method Details $\ .$ 464
	Examples $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 466$
	Constructing Euler Solution Atoms 471
	• Constructing Atoms from Roots
	• Constructing Roots from Atoms
	• Examples
	• Polynomials and Root Multiplicity 472
	Other Methods to Compute the Shortest Trial So-
	lution $\ldots \ldots 473$
	Further study $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 476$
5.11	Undamped Mechanical Vibrations
	Simple Harmonic Motion

		Applications
		Examples and Methods
	5.12	Forced and Damped Vibrations
		Forced Undamped Motion
		Forced Damped Motion
		Free damped motion $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 501$
		Examples and Methods
		Proofs and Details
	5.13	Resonance
		Pure Resonance and Beats
		Practical Resonance
		Examples and Methods
		Resonance History
	5.14	Kepler's laws $\ldots \ldots 533$
		Background
		• Analytic Geometry $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 533$
		• Polar Coordinates $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 534$
		• Calculus $\ldots \ldots 534$
		• Physics
		• Differential Equations $\dots \dots 534$
		Derivation of Kepler's First Two Laws 535
		• Kepler's Second Law
		• Kepler's First Law
7	Тор	ics in Linear Differential Equations 537
	7.1	Higher Order Homogeneous $\hdots \hdots \hd$
		How to Solve Higher Order Equations 538
		• Step I: Real Roots
		• Step II: Complex Root pairs
		\bullet Exponential Solutions and Euler's Theorem $~.~.~.~539$
		\bullet An Illustration of the Higher Order Method $\ . \ . \ . \ 539$
		• Computer Algebra System Solution 540
	7.2	Differential Operators
		Factorization
		General Solution
	7.3	Higher Order Non-Homogeneous $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 545$

	Variation of Parameters Formula	545
	Undetermined Coefficients Method	546
	Method of Undetermined Coefficients	547
	• Undetermined Coefficients Rule I	547
	• Undetermined Coefficients Rule II	547
	• A Common Difficulty	547
	• Higher Order Undetermined Coefficients Illustration	548
7.4	Cauchy-Euler Equation	551
7.5	Variation of Parameters Revisited	554
7.6	Undetermined Coefficients Library	559
	The Easily-Solved Equations	559
	Library of Special Methods	560
	• Equilibrium and Quadrature Methods	560
	\bullet The Polynomial Method \hdots	561
	• Recursive Polynomial Hybrid	562
	• Polynomial \times Exponential Method	562
	\bullet Polynomial \times Exponential \times Cosine Method $~$	562
	\bullet Polynomial \times Exponential \times Sine Method	563
	• Kümmer's Method	563
	Trial Solution Shortcut	563
	\bullet How Kümmer's Method Predicts Trial Solutions	563
	• The Correction Rule	564
	\bullet A Table Lookup Method	565
	• Alternate trial solution shortcut	565
	Key Theorems	565
	• Historical Notes	571
Lan	lace Transform	575
8.1	Introduction to the Laplace Method	576
0.1	Laplace Integral	576
	• The Illustration	577
	• Some Transform Rules	578
	Examples	579
	Existence of the Transform	579
8.2	Laplace Integral Table	583
	Examples	584

8

		Gamma Function
	8.3	Laplace Transform Rules
		Examples $\ldots \ldots 590$
	8.4	Heaviside's Method
		Partial Fraction Theory
		• Simple Roots
		• Multiple Roots
		• Summary
		The Sampling Method 600
		The Method of Atoms $\ldots \ldots 601$
		Heaviside's Coverup Method 601
		• Mysterious Details $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		\bullet Extension to Multiple Roots 602
		• Special Methods $\ldots \ldots 603$
		\bullet Cover-up Method and Complex Numbers $~$ 603
		Residues, Poles and Oliver Heaviside 604
		Examples
	8.5	Transform Properties
		DC Gain and the Final Value Theorem $\ . \ . \ . \ . \ 614$
		Proofs and Details $\ldots \ldots 615$
	8.6	Heaviside Step and Dirac Impulse
		• Heaviside Function
		• Dirac Impulse $\ldots \ldots 619$
		• Modeling Impulses $\ldots \ldots 620$
	8.7	Laplace Table Derivations
	8.8	Modeling
		Laplace Model Representations in Engineering $~$. $~$ 627
		Engineering Inverse Problems 628
0	Fig	enonolygic 692
9	0 1	Figure Paralysis 033
	5.1	What's Figure Parallesis?
		Matrix Eigenanalysis
		Computing Eigenpairs of a Matrix 638
		Fourier's Replacement for Matrices 640
		Independence of Figenvectors
		$\mathbf{mucpendence of mgenvectors} \dots \dots$

	Eigenanalysis and Geometry
	Shears are not Fourier Replacement 644
	Diagonalization and Eigenpair Packages $\ldots \ldots \ldots 644$
	Examples and Computational Details
9.2	Eigenanalysis II
	Discrete Dynamical Systems
	Coupled and Uncoupled Systems
	Solving Uncoupled Systems
	Coordinates and Coordinate Systems
	Constructing Coupled Systems
	Changing Coupled Systems to Uncoupled 663
	Eigenanalysis and Footballs
	The Ellipse and Eigenanalysis
9.3	Advanced Topics in Linear Algebra
	Diagonalization and Jordan's Theorem 669
	Cayley-Hamilton Identity
	An Extension of Jordan's Theorem 671
	Solving Block Triangular Differential Systems 671
	Symmetric Matrices and Orthogonality $\ldots \ldots 672$
	The Gram-Schmidt process 673
	Orthogonal Projection
	The Near Point Theorem
	The QR Decomposition $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 677$
	The Singular Value Decomposition 681
	Singular Values and Geometry
	• Standard Equation of an Ellipse
	• Rotations and Scaling
	• Geometry $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	• The Four Fundamental Subspaces $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 686$
	\bullet A Change of Basis Interpretation of the SVD $~$ 687
10 Ph	ase Plane Methods 690
10.1	Planar Autonomous Systems
	Trajectories Don't Cross
	Equilibria \ldots 692
	Practical Methods for Computing Equilibria 693

Ро	pulation Biology $\ldots \ldots 693$
Ph	ase Portraits
Sta	ability
Di	rection Fields by Computer
10.2 Planar Co	onstant Linear Systems
Co	ntinuity and Redundancy
Illu	ustrations
Isc	olated Equilibria
Cla	assification of Isolated Equilibria
Liı	near Classification Shortcut for $\frac{d}{dt}\vec{u} = A\vec{u}$ 709
No	de Sub-classifications $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .$ 712
Ex	amples and Methods
10.3 Biological	Models
Pr	edator-Prey Models
Sy	stem Variables
Eq	uilibria
Liı	nearized Predator-Prey System
Ra	bbits and Foxes $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .720$
Pe	sticides, Aphids and Ladybugs
Co	$mpetition Models \dots \dots$
Su	rvival of One Species
Co	-existence $\dots \dots \dots$
Al	ligators, Explosion and Extinction
10.4 Mechanica	al Models
No	onlinear Spring-Mass System
So	ft and Hard Springs
•	Energy Conservation
•	Kinetic and Potential Energy
•	Phase Plane and Scenes
No	onlinear Pendulum
11 Systems of D	ifferential Equations 739
•	Linear systems
•	Matrix Notation for Systems
11.1 Examples	of Systems
Br	ine Tank Cascade

Cascades and Compartment Analysis
Recycled Brine Tank Cascade
Pond Pollution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .$ 743
Home Heating $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .745$
Chemostats and Microorganism Culturing 747
Irregular Heartbeats and Lidocaine
Nutrient Flow in an Aquarium
Biomass Transfer
Pesticides in Soil and Trees
Forecasting Prices
Coupled Spring-Mass Systems
Boxcars \ldots 756
Monatomic Crystals
Electrical Network I
Electrical Network II
Logging Timber by Helicopter
Earthquake Effects on Buildings
Earthquakes and Tsunamis
11.2 Basic First-order System Methods
Solving 2×2 Systems
• Triangular A
• Non-Triangular A
Triangular Methods
Conversion to Systems
• Scalar second order linear equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots 769$
• Systems of second order linear equations 770
• Higher order linear equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .$ 771
11.3 Structure of Linear Systems
• Linear systems $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .$ 773
• Matrix Notation for Systems
• Existence-uniqueness $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .$ 773
• Superposition $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots .774$
• General Solution $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ 775
\bullet Recognition of homogeneous solution terms $~\ldots~.~775$
• Independence

\bullet Initial value problems and the rref method 779
• Equilibria $\dots \dots \dots$
11.4 Matrix Exponential
Matrix Exponential Identities
Putzer's Spectral Formula
Spectral Formula 2×2
• Real Distinct Eigenvalues
• Real Equal Eigenvalues
• Complex Eigenvalues
• How to Remember Putzer's 2×2 Formula 784
Spectral Formula $n \times n$
Proofs of Matrix Exponential Properties 785
Computing e^{At}
11.5 The Eigenanalysis Method
The Eigenanalysis Method for a 2×2 Matrix 789
The Eigenanalysis Method for a 3×3 Matrix 791
The Eigenanalysis Method for an $n\times n$ Matrix 792
Spectral Theory Methods
Solving Planar Systems $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$
• Illustrations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 795$
11.6 Jordan Form and Eigenanalysis
Generalized Eigenanalysis
• Jordan block \ldots
• Jordan form $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$ 797
• Decoding a Jordan Decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$ 797
• Geometric and algebraic multiplicity
• Chains of generalized eigenvectors $\ldots \ldots \ldots 800$
• Computing m -chains $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 801
Jordan Decomposition using maple 802
Number of Jordan Blocks
• An Illustration $\ldots \ldots 803$
Numerical Instability
The Real Jordan Form of A
Direct Sum Decomposition
Computing Exponential Matrices 805

• Nilpotent matrices $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 800	3
• Real Exponentials for Complex λ 800	3
• Solving $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$	7
11.7 Nonhomogeneous Linear Systems	L
Variation of Parameters	L
Undetermined Coefficients	2
11.8 Second-order Systems $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 814	1
Converting $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ to $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$	1
Euler's Substitution $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots 814$	1
Characteristic Equation for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ 815	5
Solving $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}} \ldots \ldots \ldots 816$	3
\bullet Eigenanalysis when A has Negative Eigenvalues 81'	7
11.9 Numerical Methods for Systems	3
• Graphics \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $.818$	3
• Myopic Algorithms $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 818	3
Numerical Algorithms: Planar Case 819)
• Planar Euler Method \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $.819$)
• Planar Heun Method \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $.819$)
• Planar RK4 Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 819)
Numerical Algorithms: General Case 819)
• Vector Euler Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 820)
• Vector Heun Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 820)
• Vector RK4 Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 820)
12 Series Methods and Approximations 821	L
12.1 Review of Calculus Topics	2
• Library of Maclaurin Series	3
• Taylor Series $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	1
12.2 Algebraic Techniques $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 82 ⁴	1
• Derivative Formulas $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 82^2	1
• Changing Subscripts $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 82^4	1
• Linearity and Power Series	3
• Cauchy Product $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 826	3
\bullet Power Series Expansions of Rational Functions $~$. 82'	7
• Recursion Relations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 828	3
12.3 Power Series Methods)

	• A Series Method for First Order	0
	• A Series Method for Second Order 83	31
	• Power Series Maple Code	2
	• A Taylor Polynomial Method 83	3
	12.4 Ordinary Points	5
	• Ordinary Point Illustration 83	5
	• Some maple Code	6
	12.5 Regular Singular Points	8
	• Frobenius theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 83	9
	12.6 Bessel Functions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 85	0
	• Properties of Bessel Functions	$\mathbf{i}1$
	• The Zeros of Bessel Functions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 85$	52
	12.7 Legendre Polynomials	4
	• Properties of Legendre Polynomials	5
	• Gaussian Quadrature	5
	\bullet Derivation of the Legendre Polynomial Formula 85	57
	• Derivation of Rodrigues' Formula	69
	12.8 Orthogonality $\ldots \ldots $	51
	• Dot Product for Functions	51
	• Orthogonality, Norm and Distance 86	52
	• Weighted Dot Product $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 86	52
	• Series of Orthogonal Functions	64
	• Bessel inequality and Parseval equality 86	55
	• Legendre series $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 86	6
	• Bessel series $\ldots \ldots $	57
۸	Background Tonics	0
A	A 1 Calculus 87	9 70
	Derivative 87	70
	Slope Bates and Averages 87	71
	Fundamental Theorem of Calculus 87	1 '2
	A 2 Graphics 88	2 30
	• The Standard Curve Library 88	30
	• Four Transformations	30
	Special Equations Section 88	31
	Polynomial Quotients 88	-
	Slope, Rates and Averages 87 Fundamental Theorem of Calculus 87 A.2 Graphics 88 • The Standard Curve Library 88 • Four Transformations 88 • Special Equations 88 • Polynomial Quotients 88	 '1 '2 50 50 50 50 51 51

A.3	Explicit and Implicit Answers
	• Explicit Equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 889
	• Implicit Equations $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $ 889
	• Computer Algebra Methods
A.4	Implicit Functions
	• Practical Numerical Methods
	• Computer Algebra Methods

Applied Differential Equations

A Course for Science and Engineering

Organization. Each chapter of the text is organized in sections that represent one or two classroom lectures of 50 minutes each. The outside work for these divisions requires one to six hours, depending upon the depth of study.

Each section within a chapter consists of three distinct **parts**. The divisions represent the **lecture**, **examples** and **technical details**. Generally, proofs of theorems or long justifications of formulas are delayed until after the examples. The lectures contain only the briefest examples, figures and illustrations.

A key to a successful course is a weekly session dedicated to review, drill, answers, solutions, exposition and exam preparation. While group meetings are important, individual effort is required to flesh out the details and to learn the subject in depth. The textbook design supports targeted self-study through its examples and exercises.

There is a defense for this style of presentation, matched equally by a long list of criticisms. The *defense* is that this style represents how material is presented in classroom lectures, and how the topics are studied in the private life of a student. Certainly, students don't read everything in the textbook, and this style addresses the issue of what to skip and what to read in detail. The *criticisms* include a departure from standard textbooks, which intermix theory and examples and proofs. Additional criticisms include a general need to flip pages to look up details.

Prerequisites. Beginning sections of chapters require college algebra, basic high school geometry, coordinate geometry, elementary trigonometry, differential calculus and integral calculus. Several variable calculus and linear algebra are assumed for certain advanced topics. Instructors are the best judges of what to include and what to skip, concerning advanced topics in this textbook.

Survey course. A complete **survey course** in differential equations for engineering and science can be constructed from the lectures and examples, by skipping the technical details supplied in the text. Interested students

can read the details to obtain a deeper introduction to the subject. Such survey courses will necessarily contact more chapters and trade the depth of a conventional course for a faster pace, easier topics, and more variety.

Conventional Course. Differential equations courses at the undergraduate level will present some or all of the technical details in class, as part of the lecture. Deeper study with technical details is warranted for specialties like physics and electrical engineering. **Hybrid courses** that combine the conventional course and the engineering course can be realized.

To the Student. Expertise in the background topics is expected of **students** only after review and continued use in the course, especially by writing solutions to exercises. **Instructors** are advised that an exercise list and subsequent evaluation of the work is essential for successful use of the text.

Matched in the text are examples, exercises and odd answers. To learn the subject, not only is it required to *solve exercises*, but to *write exercises*, which is not different from writing in a foreign language.

Writing requires two or more drafts and a final report or *presentation*. Engineering paper and lineless duplicator paper encourage final reports with adequate white space between equations. Pencil and eraser save time. Pens and word processors waste time.

Contributions to legibility, organization and presentation of hand-written exercises were made at The University of Utah, by numerous creative engineering students, over the years 1990-2016. Their ideas produced the *suggestions* below, which were applied to the text examples and illustrations.

- 1. A report is hand-written by pencil on printer paper or engineering paper. It starts with a problem statement followed perhaps by a final answer summary. Supporting material appears at the end, like a tax return.
- Mathematical notation is on the left, text on the right, often a 60% to 40% ratio. One equal sign per line. Justify equations left or align on the equal signs. Vertical white space separates equation displays.
- **3**. Text is left-justified on the right side. It includes explanations, references by keyword or page number, statements and definitions, references to delayed details (long calculations, graphics, answer checks).
- **4**. Every report has an answer check. It is usual to see *back* of *book* as the only detail. Proofs have no answer check.
- **5**. No suggestion is a rule: invent your own style by theft of good ideas and rejection of unsuitable ideas.

Work and School. Students studying in isolation are increasing in number, because their jobs and family drive their university schedules. In spite of their forced isolation from the classroom, working students with families seek advice from their instructors by telephone, email and office visits. They make use of study groups and supplemental instruction. Course design in universities has evolved to recognize the shift from a predominantly non-working student population to its present constituency. Exercises in Progress, August 2016.

This PDF is a draft of my textbook written over the years 1999-2016. Please, do not distribute this PDF, because it contains many errors, as yet undiscovered.

Ch 1. Already completed 74 + 52 + 50 + 46 + 44 + 56 = 322.

Ch 2. Already completed 86 + 64 + 64 + 70 + 66 + 98 + 58 + 42 + 30 + 70 = 648.

Ch 3. Already completed 36 + 80 + 50 + 48 + 22 = 236.

Ch 4. Already completed 52 + 38 + 34 + 24 + 20 + 28 + 24 + 40 + 12 = 272.

Ch 5. Already completed 128 + 63 + 106 + 90 + 58 = 445.

Ch 6. Already completed 87 + 36 + 0 + 68 + 30 + 63 + 36 + 75 + 46 = 278. Need repair for missing exercises in 6.3 and 6.9

Ch 7. Already completed 30 + 14 + 20 + 8 + 16 + 51 = 139. Add 10 to 7.4.

Ch 8. Already completed 26 + 68 + 16 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 = 110. Add as follows: 8.3 += 40, 8.4 += 40, 8.5 += 40, 8.6 += 30, 8.7 += 30, 8.8 += 10.

Ch 9. Already completed 35 + 0 + 66 = 101. Add as follows: 9.2 + = 40. Fix blanks in 9.1, 9.3

Ch 10. Already completed 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 = 0. Add 30 to each of 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 and 20 to 10.4.

Ch 11. Already completed 0 + 0 + 0 + 54 + 0 + 94 + 0 + 0 + 0 = 148. Add as follows: 11.1 += 30, 11.2 += 40, 11.3 += 40, 11.4 has blanks, 11.5 += 30, 11.7 += 20, 11.8 += 20, 11.9 += 30.

Ch 12. Already completed 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 0 + 10 + 4 + 26 = 40. Add as follows: 12.1 += 10, 12.2 += 40, 11.3 += 30, 11.4 += 30, 11.5 += 30, 11.6 += 20, 11.7 += 20, 11.8 has blanks.

Appendix: Already completed 54 + 38 + 28 + 24 = 144.

About 2883 problems are already prepared. More to come, about 740.

Indexing Did ch 1,2,3,5 To do: other chapters. Record here when finished.

Chapter 11

Systems of Differential Equations

Contents

11.1	Examples of Systems	740
11.2	Basic First-order System Methods	765
11.3	Structure of Linear Systems	773
11.4	Matrix Exponential	781
11.5	The Eigenanalysis Method	789
11.6	Jordan Form and Eigenanalysis	797
11.7	Nonhomogeneous Linear Systems	811
11.8	Second-order Systems	814
11.9	Numerical Methods for Systems	818

Linear systems. A **linear system** is a system of differential equations of the form

(1) $\begin{aligned} x_1' &= a_{11}x_1 + \cdots + a_{1n}x_n + f_1, \\ x_2' &= a_{21}x_1 + \cdots + a_{2n}x_n + f_2, \\ \vdots &\vdots & \ddots &\vdots \\ x_m' &= a_{m1}x_1 + \cdots + a_{mn}x_n + f_m, \end{aligned}$

where ' = d/dt. Given are the functions $a_{ij}(t)$ and $f_j(t)$ on some interval a < t < b. The unknowns are the functions $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t)$.

The system is called **homogeneous** if all $f_j = 0$, otherwise it is called **non-homogeneous**.

Matrix Notation for Systems. A non-homogeneous system of linear equations (1) is written as the equivalent vector-matrix system

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t),$$

where

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{f}} = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ \vdots \\ f_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ a_{m1} & \cdots & a_{mn} \end{pmatrix}.$$

11.1 Examples of Systems

Brine Tank Cascade	 740
Cascades and Compartment Analysis	 741
Recycled Brine Tank Cascade	 742
Pond Pollution	 743
Home Heating	 745
Chemostats and Microorganism Culturing	 747
Irregular Heartbeats and Lidocaine	 749
Nutrient Flow in an Aquarium	 750
Biomass Transfer	 751
Pesticides in Soil and Trees	 752
Forecasting Prices	 753
Coupled Spring-Mass Systems	 754
Boxcars	 756
Monatomic Crystals	 757
Electrical Network I	 757
Electrical Network II	 758
Logging Timber by Helicopter	 759
Earthquake Effects on Buildings	 760

Brine Tank Cascade

Let brine tanks A, B, C be given of volumes 20, 40, 60, respectively, as in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Three brine tanks in cascade.

It is supposed that fluid enters tank A at rate r, drains from A to B at rate r, drains from B to C at rate r, then drains from tank C at rate r. Hence the volumes of the tanks remain constant. Let r = 10, to illustrate the ideas.

Uniform stirring of each tank is assumed, which implies **uniform salt** concentration throughout each tank.

Let $x_1(t)$, $x_2(t)$, $x_3(t)$ denote the amount of salt at time t in each tank. We suppose **water containing no salt** is added to tank A. Therefore, the salt in all the tanks is eventually lost from the drains. The cascade is modeled by the **chemical balance law**

rate of change
$$=$$
 input rate $-$ output rate.

Application of the balance law, justified below in *compartment analysis*, results in the triangular differential system

$$\begin{aligned} x_1' &= -\frac{1}{2}x_1, \\ x_2' &= \frac{1}{2}x_1 - \frac{1}{4}x_2, \\ x_3' &= \frac{1}{4}x_2 - \frac{1}{6}x_3. \end{aligned}$$

The solution, to be justified later in this chapter, is given by the equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= x_1(0)e^{-t/2}, \\ x_2(t) &= -2x_1(0)e^{-t/2} + (x_2(0) + 2x_1(0))e^{-t/4}, \\ x_3(t) &= \frac{3}{2}x_1(0)e^{-t/2} - 3(x_2(0) + 2x_1(0))e^{-t/4} \\ &+ (x_3(0) - \frac{3}{2}x_1(0) + 3(x_2(0) + 2x_1(0)))e^{-t/6}. \end{aligned}$$

Cascades and Compartment Analysis

A linear cascade is a diagram of **compartments** in which input and output rates have been assigned from one or more different compartments. The diagram is a succinct way to summarize and document the various rates.

The method of **compartment analysis** translates the diagram into a system of linear differential equations. The method has been used to derive applied models in diverse topics like ecology, chemistry, heating and cooling, kinetics, mechanics and electricity.

The method. Refer to Figure 2. A compartment diagram consists of the following components.

Variable Names Each **compartment** is labelled with a variable X.

Arrows	Each arrow is labelled with a flow rate R .
Input Rate	An arrowhead pointing at compartment X documents input rate $R. \label{eq:rescaled}$
Output Rate	An arrowhead pointing away from compartment X documents output rate R .



Assembly of the single linear differential equation for a diagram compartment X is done by writing dX/dt for the left side of the differential equation and then algebraically adding the input and output rates to obtain the right side of the differential equation, according to the **balance law**

 $\frac{dX}{dt}$ = sum of input rates – sum of output rates

By convention, a compartment with no arriving arrowhead has input zero, and a compartment with no exiting arrowhead has output zero. Applying the balance law to Figure 2 gives one differential equation for each of the three compartments $[x_1], [x_2], [x_3]$.

$$x_1' = 0 - \frac{1}{2}x_1,$$

$$x_2' = \frac{1}{2}x_1 - \frac{1}{4}x_2,$$

$$x_3' = \frac{1}{4}x_2 - \frac{1}{6}x_3.$$

Recycled Brine Tank Cascade

Let brine tanks A, B, C be given of volumes 60, 30, 60, respectively, as in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Three brine tanks in cascade with recycling.

Suppose that fluid drains from tank A to B at rate r, drains from tank B to C at rate r, then drains from tank C to A at rate r. The tank

volumes remain constant due to constant recycling of fluid. For purposes of illustration, let r = 10.

Uniform stirring of each tank is assumed, which implies **uniform salt** concentration throughout each tank.

Let $x_1(t)$, $x_2(t)$, $x_3(t)$ denote the amount of salt at time t in each tank. No salt is lost from the system, due to recycling. Using compartment analysis, the recycled cascade is modeled by the non-triangular system

$$\begin{aligned} x_1' &= -\frac{1}{6}x_1 & + \frac{1}{6}x_3, \\ x_2' &= \frac{1}{6}x_1 - \frac{1}{3}x_2, \\ x_3' &= \frac{1}{3}x_2 - \frac{1}{6}x_3. \end{aligned}$$

The solution is given by the equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= c_1 + (c_2 - 2c_3)e^{-t/3}\cos(t/6) + (2c_2 + c_3)e^{-t/3}\sin(t/6), \\ x_2(t) &= \frac{1}{2}c_1 + (-2c_2 - c_3)e^{-t/3}\cos(t/6) + (c_2 - 2c_3)e^{-t/3}\sin(t/6), \\ x_3(t) &= c_1 + (c_2 + 3c_3)e^{-t/3}\cos(t/6) + (-3c_2 + c_3)e^{-t/3}\sin(t/6). \end{aligned}$$

At infinity, $x_1 = x_3 = c_1$, $x_2 = c_1/2$. The meaning is that the total amount of salt is uniformly distributed in the tanks, in the ratio 2:1:2.

Pond Pollution

Consider three ponds connected by streams, as in Figure 4. The first pond has a pollution source, which spreads via the connecting streams to the other ponds. The plan is to determine the amount of pollutant in each pond.





Assume the following.

- Symbol f(t) is the pollutant flow rate into pond 1 (lb/min).
- Symbols f_1 , f_2 , f_3 denote the pollutant flow rates out of ponds 1, 2, 3, respectively (gal/min). It is assumed that the pollutant is well-mixed in each pond.

- The three ponds have volumes V_1 , V_2 , V_3 (gal), which remain constant.
- Symbols $x_1(t)$, $x_2(t)$, $x_3(t)$ denote the amount (lbs) of pollutant in ponds 1, 2, 3, respectively.

The pollutant flux is the flow rate times the pollutant concentration, e.g., pond 1 is emptied with flux f_1 times $x_1(t)/V_1$. A compartment analysis is summarized in the following diagram.



The diagram plus compartment analysis gives the following differential equations.

$$\begin{aligned} x_1'(t) &= \frac{f_3}{V_3} x_3(t) - \frac{f_1}{V_1} x_1(t) + f(t) \\ x_2'(t) &= \frac{f_1}{V_1} x_1(t) - \frac{f_2}{V_2} x_2(t), \\ x_3'(t) &= \frac{f_2}{V_2} x_2(t) - \frac{f_3}{V_3} x_3(t). \end{aligned}$$

For a specific numerical example, take $f_i/V_i = 0.001$, $1 \le i \le 3$, and let f(t) = 0.125 lb/min for the first 48 hours (2880 minutes), thereafter f(t) = 0. We expect due to uniform mixing that after a long time there will be (0.125)(2880) = 360 pounds of pollutant uniformly deposited, which is 120 pounds per pond.

Initially, $x_1(0) = x_2(0) = x_3(0) = 0$, if the ponds were pristine. The specialized problem for the first 48 hours is

$$\begin{aligned} x_1'(t) &= 0.001 \, x_3(t) - 0.001 \, x_1(t) + 0.125, \\ x_2'(t) &= 0.001 \, x_1(t) - 0.001 \, x_2(t), \\ x_3'(t) &= 0.001 \, x_2(t) - 0.001 \, x_3(t), \\ x_1(0) &= x_2(0) = x_3(0) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

The solution to this system is

$$x_1(t) = e^{-\frac{3t}{2000}} \left(\frac{125\sqrt{3}}{9} \sin\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}t}{2000}\right) - \frac{125}{3} \cos\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}t}{2000}\right) \right) + \frac{125}{3} + \frac{t}{24},$$

$$x_2(t) = -\frac{250\sqrt{3}}{9} e^{-\frac{3t}{2000}} \sin\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}t}{2000}\right) + \frac{t}{24},$$

$$x_3(t) = e^{-\frac{3t}{2000}} \left(\frac{125}{3} \cos\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}t}{2000}\right) + \frac{125\sqrt{3}}{9} \sin\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}t}{2000}\right) \right) + \frac{t}{24} - \frac{125}{3}.$$

After 48 hours elapse, the approximate pollutant amounts in pounds are

$$x_1(2880) = 162.30, \quad x_2(2880) = 119.61, \quad x_3(2880) = 78.08.$$

It should be remarked that the system above is altered by replacing 0.125 by zero, in order to predict the state of the ponds after 48 hours. The corresponding homogeneous system has an equilibrium solution $x_1(t) = x_2(t) = x_3(t) = 120$. This constant solution is the limit at infinity of the solution to the homogeneous system, using the initial values $x_1(0) \approx 162.30, x_2(0) \approx 119.61, x_3(0) \approx 78.08$.

Home Heating

Consider a typical home with attic, basement and insulated main floor.



It is usual to surround the main living area with insulation, but the attic area has walls and ceiling without insulation. The walls and floor in the basement are insulated by earth. The basement ceiling is insulated by air space in the joists, a layer of flooring on the main floor and a layer of drywall in the basement. We will analyze the changing temperatures in the three levels using Newton's cooling law and the variables

z(t) = Temperature in the attic,

- y(t) = Temperature in the main living area,
- x(t) = Temperature in the basement,
- t = Time in hours.

Initial data. Assume it is winter time and the outside temperature in constantly 35°F during the day. Also assumed is a basement earth temperature of 45°F. Initially, the heat is off for several days. The initial values at noon (t = 0) are then x(0) = 45, y(0) = z(0) = 35.

Portable heater. A small electric heater is turned on at noon, with thermostat set for 100° F. When the heater is running, it provides a 20° F rise per hour, therefore it takes some time to reach 100° F (probably never!). Newton's cooling law

Temperature rate = k(Temperature difference)

will be applied to five boundary surfaces: (0) the basement walls and floor, (1) the basement ceiling, (2) the main floor walls, (3) the main floor ceiling, and (4) the attic walls and ceiling. Newton's cooling law gives positive cooling constants k_0 , k_1 , k_2 , k_3 , k_4 and the equations

$$\begin{aligned} x' &= k_0(45-x) + k_1(y-x), \\ y' &= k_1(x-y) + k_2(35-y) + k_3(z-y) + 20, \\ z' &= k_3(y-z) + k_4(35-z). \end{aligned}$$

The insulation constants will be defined as $k_0 = 1/2$, $k_1 = 1/2$, $k_2 = 1/4$, $k_3 = 1/4$, $k_4 = 3/4$ to reflect insulation quality. The reciprocal 1/k is approximately the amount of time in hours required for 63% of the temperature difference to be exchanged. For instance, 4 hours elapse for the main floor. The model:

$$\begin{aligned} x' &= \frac{1}{2}(45-x) + \frac{1}{2}(y-x), \\ y' &= \frac{1}{2}(x-y) + \frac{1}{4}(35-y) + \frac{1}{4}(z-y) + 20, \\ z' &= \frac{1}{4}(y-z) + \frac{3}{4}(35-z). \end{aligned}$$

The homogeneous solution in vector form is given in terms of constants $a = 1 + \sqrt{5}/4$, $b = 1 - \sqrt{5}/4$, and arbitrary constants c_1 , c_2 , c_3 by the formula

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_h(t)\\ y_h(t)\\ z_h(t) \end{pmatrix} = c_1 e^{-t} \begin{pmatrix} -1\\ 0\\ 2 \end{pmatrix} + c_2 e^{-at} \begin{pmatrix} 2\\ \sqrt{5}\\ 1 \end{pmatrix} + c_3 e^{-bt} \begin{pmatrix} 2\\ -\sqrt{5}\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

A particular solution is an equilibrium solution

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_p(t) \\ y_p(t) \\ z_p(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{620}{11} \\ \frac{745}{11} \\ \frac{475}{11} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The homogeneous solution has limit zero at infinity, hence the temperatures of the three spaces hover around x = 56.4, y = 67.7, z = 43.2degrees Fahrenheit. Specific information can be gathered by solving for c_1 , c_2 , c_3 according to the initial data x(0) = 45, y(0) = z(0) = 35. The answers are

$$c_1 = 5$$
, $c_2 = \frac{25}{2} + \frac{7}{2}\sqrt{5}$, $c_3 = \frac{25}{2} - \frac{7}{2}\sqrt{5}$.

Underpowered heater. To the main floor each hour is added 20°F, but the heat escapes at a substantial rate, so that after one hour $y \approx 68^{\circ}$ F.

After five hours, $y \approx 68^{\circ}$ F. The heater in this example is so inadequate that even after many hours, the main living area is still under 69°F.

Forced air furnace. Replacing the space heater by a normal furnace adds the difficulty of switches in the input, namely, the thermostat turns off the furnace when the main floor temperature reaches 70°F, and it turns it on again after a 4°F temperature drop. We will suppose that the furnace has four times the BTU rating of the space heater, which translates to an 80°F temperature rise per hour. The study of the forced air furnace requires two differential equations, one with 20 replaced by 80 (DE 1, furnace on) and the other with 20 replaced by 0 (DE 2, furnace off). The plan is to use the first differential equation on time interval $0 \le t \le t_1$, then switch to the second differential equation for time interval $t_1 \le t \le t_2$. The time intervals are selected so that $y(t_1) = 70$ (the thermostat setting) and $y(t_2) = 66$ (thermostat setting less 4 degrees). Numerical work gives the following results.

Time in minutes	Main floor temperature	Model	Furnace
31.6	70	DE 1	on
40.9	66	DE 2	off
45.3	70	DE 1	on
54.6	66	DE 2	off

The reason for the non-uniform times between furnace cycles can be seen from the model. Each time the furnace cycles, heat enters the main floor, then escapes through the other two levels. Consequently, the initial conditions on each floor applied to models 1 and 2 are changing, resulting in different solutions to the models on each switch.

Chemostats and Microorganism Culturing

A vessel into which nutrients are pumped, to feed a microorganism, is called a **chemostat**¹. Uniform distributions of microorganisms and nutrients are assumed, for example, due to stirring effects. The pumping is matched by draining to keep the volume constant.

¹The October 14, 2004 issue of the journal *Nature* featured a study of the coevolution of a common type of bacteria, Escherichia coli, and a virus that infects it, called bacteriophage T7. Postdoctoral researcher Samantha Forde set up "microbial communities of bacteria and viruses with different nutrient levels in a series of chemostats – glass culture tubes that provide nutrients and oxygen and siphon off wastes."


Figure 7. A Basic Chemostat. A stirred bio-reactor operated as a chemostat, with continuous inflow and outflow. The flow rates are controlled to maintain a constant culture volume.

In a typical chemostat, one nutrient is kept in short supply while all others are abundant. We consider here the question of **survival** of the organism subject to the limited resource. The problem is quantified as follows:

x(t) = the concentration of the limited nutrient in the vessel,

y(t) = the concentration of organisms in the vessel.

A special case of the derivation in J.M. Cushing's text for the organism $E. \ Coli^2$ is the set of **nonlinear** differential equations³

(2)
$$\begin{aligned} x' &= -0.075x + (0.075)(0.005) - \frac{1}{63}g(x)y, \\ y' &= -0.075y + g(x)y, \end{aligned}$$

where $g(x) = 0.68x(0.0016 + x)^{-1}$. Of special interest to the study of this equation are two linearized equations at equilibria, given by

(3)
$$\begin{aligned} u_1' &= -0.075 \, u_1 - 0.008177008175 \, u_2 \\ u_2' &= 0.4401515152 \, u_2, \end{aligned}$$

(4)
$$\begin{aligned} v_1' &= -1.690372243 \, v_1 - 0.001190476190 \, v_2, \\ v_2' &= 101.7684513 \, v_1. \end{aligned}$$

Although we cannot solve the nonlinear system explicitly, nevertheless there are explicit formulas for u_1 , u_2 , v_1 , v_2 that complete the picture of how solutions x(t), y(t) behave at $t = \infty$. The result of the analysis is that *E. Coli* survives indefinitely in this vessel at concentration $y \approx 0.3$.

²In a biology Master's thesis, two strains of Escherichia coli were grown in a glucoselimited chemostat coupled to a modified Robbins device containing plugs of silicone rubber urinary catheter material. Reference: Jennifer L. Adams and Robert J. C. McLean, Applied and Environmental Microbiology, September 1999, p. 4285-4287, Vol. 65, No. 9.

³More details can be found in *The Theory of the Chemostat Dynamics of Microbial Competition*, ISBN-13: 9780521067348, by Hal Smith and Paul Waltman, June 2008.



Figure 8. Laboratory Chemostat.

The components are the **Feed reservoir**, which contains the nutrients, a stirred chemical reactor labeled the **Culture vessel**, and the **Effluent reservoir**, which holds the effluent overflow from the reactor.

Irregular Heartbeats and Lidocaine

The human malady of **ventricular arrhythmia** or irregular heartbeat is treated clinically using the drug **lidocaine**.



Figure 9. Xylocaine label, a brand name for the drug lidocaine.

To be effective, the drug has to be maintained at a bloodstream concentration of 1.5 milligrams per liter, but concentrations above 6 milligrams per liter are considered lethal in some patients. The actual dosage depends upon body weight. The adult dosage maximum for ventricular tachycardia is reported at 3 mg/kg.⁴ The drug is supplied in 0.5%, 1% and 2% solutions, which are stored at room temperature.

A differential equation model for the dynamics of the drug therapy uses

- x(t) = amount of *lidocaine* in the bloodstream,
- y(t) = amount of *lidocaine* in body tissue.

A typical set of equations, valid for a special body weight only, appears below; for more detail see J.M. Cushing's text [Cushing (2004)].

(5) $\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= -0.09x(t) + 0.038y(t), \\ y'(t) &= 0.066x(t) - 0.038y(t). \end{aligned}$

⁴Source: Family Practice Notebook, http://www.fpnotebook.com/. The author is Scott Moses, MD, who practises in Lino Lakes, Minnesota.

The physically significant initial data is zero drug in the bloodstream x(0) = 0 and injection dosage $y(0) = y_0$. The answers:

 $x(t) = -0.3367y_0e^{-0.1204t} + 0.3367y_0e^{-0.0076t},$ $y(t) = 0.2696y_0e^{-0.1204t} + 0.7304y_0e^{-0.0076t}.$

The answers can be used to estimate the maximum possible safe dosage y_0 and the duration of time that the drug *lidocaine* is effective.

Nutrient Flow in an Aquarium

Consider a vessel of water containing a radioactive isotope, to be used as a tracer for the food chain, which consists of aquatic plankton varieties A and B.

Plankton are aquatic organisms that drift with the currents, typically in an environment like Chesapeake Bay. Plankton can be divided into two groups, phytoplankton and zooplankton. The phytoplankton are *plant-like* drifters: diatoms and other alga. Zooplankton are *animal-like* drifters: copepods, larvae, and small crustaceans.





Let

x(t) =isotope concentration in the water,

y(t) =isotope concentration in A,

z(t) = isotope concentration in B.

Typical differential equations are

$$\begin{aligned} & x'(t) = -3x(t) + 6y(t) + 5z(t), \\ & y'(t) = 2x(t) - 12y(t), \\ & z'(t) = x(t) + 6y(t) - 5z(t). \end{aligned}$$

The answers are

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= 6c_1 + (1+\sqrt{6})c_2 e^{(-10+\sqrt{6})t} + (1-\sqrt{6})c_3 e^{(-10-\sqrt{6})t}, \\ y(t) &= c_1 + c_2 e^{(-10+\sqrt{6})t} + c_3 e^{(-10-\sqrt{6})t}, \\ z(t) &= \frac{12}{5}c_1 - \left(2+\sqrt{1.5}\right)c_2 e^{(-10+\sqrt{6})t} + \left(-2+\sqrt{1.5}\right)c_3 e^{(-10-\sqrt{6})t}. \end{aligned}$$

The constants c_1 , c_2 , c_3 are related to the initial radioactive isotope concentrations $x(0) = x_0$, y(0) = 0, z(0) = 0, by the 3×3 system of linear algebraic equations

$6c_1$	+	$(1+\sqrt{6})c_2$	+	$(1-\sqrt{6})c_3$	=	$x_0,$
c_1	+	c_2	+	c_3	=	0,
$\frac{12}{5}c_1$	_	$\left(2+\sqrt{1.5}\right)c_2$	+	$\left(-2+\sqrt{1.5}\right)c_3$	=	0.

Biomass Transfer

Consider a European forest having one or two varieties of trees. We select some of the oldest trees, those expected to die off in the next few years, then follow the cycle of living trees into dead trees. The dead trees eventually decay and fall from seasonal and biological events. Finally, the fallen trees become humus.



Figure 11. Forest Biomass. Total biomass is a parameter used to assess atmospheric carbon that is harvested by trees. Forest management uses biomass subclasses to classify fire risk.

Let variables x, y, z, t be defined by

- x(t) = biomass decayed into humus,
- y(t) = biomass of dead trees,
- z(t) = biomass of living trees,

t = time in decades (decade = 10 years).

A typical biological model is

$$\begin{aligned} &x'(t) = -x(t) + 3y(t), \\ &y'(t) = -3y(t) + 5z(t), \\ &z'(t) = -5z(t). \end{aligned}$$

Suppose there are no dead trees and no humus at t = 0, with initially z_0 units of living tree biomass. These assumptions imply initial conditions x(0) = y(0) = 0, $z(0) = z_0$. The solution is

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \frac{15}{8} z_0 \left(e^{-5t} - 2e^{-3t} + e^{-t} \right), \\ y(t) &= \frac{5}{2} z_0 \left(-e^{-5t} + e^{-3t} \right), \\ z(t) &= z_0 e^{-5t}. \end{aligned}$$

The live tree biomass $z(t) = z_0 e^{-5t}$ decreases according to a Malthusian decay law from its initial size z_0 . It decays to 60% of its original biomass in one year. Interesting calculations that can be made from the other formulas include the future dates when the dead tree biomass and the humus biomass are maximum. The predicted dates are approximately 2.5 and 8 years hence, respectively.

The predictions made by this model are trends extrapolated from rate observations in the forest. Like weather prediction, it is a calculated guess that disappoints on a given day and from the outset has no predictable answer.

Total biomass is considered an important parameter to assess atmospheric carbon that is harvested by trees. Biomass estimates for forests since 1980 have been made by satellite remote sensing data with instances of 90% accuracy (*Science* 87(5), September 2004).

Pesticides in Soil and Trees

A Washington cherry orchard was sprayed with pesticides.





Assume that a negligible amount of pesticide was sprayed on the soil. Pesticide applied to the trees has a certain outflow rate to the soil, and conversely, pesticide in the soil has a certain uptake rate into the trees. Repeated applications of the pesticide are required to control the insects, which implies the pesticide levels in the trees varies with time. Quantize the pesticide spraying as follows. x(t) = amount of pesticide in the trees,

y(t) = amount of pesticide in the soil,

r(t) = amount of pesticide applied to the trees,

t = time in years.

A typical model is obtained from input-output analysis, similar to the brine tank models:

$$x'(t) = 2x(t) - y(t) + r(t),$$

$$y'(t) = 2x(t) - 3y(t).$$

In a pristine orchard, the initial data is x(0) = 0, y(0) = 0, because the trees and the soil initially harbor no pesticide. The solution of the model obviously depends on r(t). The nonhomogeneous dependence is treated by the method of variation of parameters *infra*. Approximate formulas are

$$x(t) \approx \int_0^t \left(1.10e^{1.6(t-u)} - 0.12e^{-2.6(t-u)} \right) r(u) du,$$

$$y(t) \approx \int_0^t \left(0.49e^{1.6(t-u)} - 0.49e^{-2.6(t-u)} \right) r(u) du.$$

The exponential rates 1.6 and -2.6 represent respectively the accumulation of the pesticide into the soil and the decay of the pesticide from the trees. The application rate r(t) is typically a step function equal to a positive constant over a small interval of time and zero elsewhere, or a sum of such functions, representing periodic applications of pesticide.

Forecasting Prices

A cosmetics manufacturer has a marketing policy based upon the price x(t) of its salon shampoo.



Figure 13. Salon shampoo sample. The marketing strategy for the shampoo is to set the price x(t) dynamically to reflect demand for the product.

The **production** P(t) and the sales S(t) are given in terms of the **price** x(t) and the **change in price** x'(t) by the equations

$$P(t) = 4 - \frac{3}{4}x(t) - 8x'(t) \quad (\text{Production}),$$

$$S(t) = 15 - 4x(t) - 2x'(t) \quad (\text{Sales}).$$

The differential equations for the price x(t) and inventory level I(t) are

$$x'(t) = k(I(t) - I_0),$$

 $I'(t) = P(t) - S(t).$

The inventory level $I_0 = 50$ represents the desired level. The equations can be written in terms of x(t), I(t) as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= kI(t) - kI_0, \\ I'(t) &= \frac{13}{4}x(t) - 6kI(t) + 6kI_0 - 11 \end{aligned}$$

If k = 1, x(0) = 10 and I(0) = 7, then the solution is given by

$$x(t) = \frac{44}{13} + \frac{86}{13}e^{-13t/2},$$

$$I(t) = 50 - 43e^{-13t/2}.$$

The **forecast** of price $x(t) \approx 3.39$ dollars at inventory level $I(t) \approx 50$ is based upon the two limits

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} x(t) = \frac{44}{13}, \quad \lim_{t \to \infty} I(t) = 50.$$

Coupled Spring-Mass Systems

Three masses are attached to each other by four springs as in Figure 14.

k_1	$k_1 k_2$		k_4	
	m_1	m_2	m_3	

Figure 14. Three masses connected by springs. The masses slide along a frictionless horizontal surface.

The analysis uses the following constants, variables and assumptions.

Mass	The masses m_1 , m_2 , m_3 are assumed to be point masses
Constants	concentrated at their center of gravity.
Spring	The mass of each spring is negligible. The springs op-
Constants	erate according to Hooke's law: Force = k (elongation).
	Constants k_1 , k_2 , k_3 , k_4 denote the Hooke's constants. The springs restore after compression and extension.
Position	The symbols $x_1(t)$, $x_2(t)$, $x_3(t)$ denote the mass posi-
Variables	tions along the horizontal surface, measured from their
	equilibrium positions, plus right and minus left.

Fixed Ends The first and last spring are attached to fixed walls.

The **competition method** is used to derive the equations of motion. In this case, the law is

Newton's Second Law Force = Sum of the Hooke's Forces.

The model equations are

(6)
$$\begin{array}{rcl} m_1 x_1''(t) &=& -k_1 x_1(t) + k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)], \\ m_2 x_2''(t) &=& -k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)] + k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)], \\ m_3 x_3''(t) &=& -k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)] - k_4 x_3(t). \end{array}$$

The equations are justified in the case of all positive variables by observing that the first three springs are elongated by x_1 , $x_2 - x_1$, $x_3 - x_2$, respectively. The last spring is compressed by x_3 , which accounts for the minus sign.

Another way to justify the equations is through mirror-image symmetry: interchange $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_4, k_2 \leftrightarrow k_3, x_1 \leftrightarrow x_3$, then equation 2 should be unchanged and equation 3 should become equation 1.

Matrix Formulation. System (6) can be written as a second order vector-matrix system

$$\begin{pmatrix} m_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1'' \\ x_2'' \\ x_3'' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -k_1 - k_2 & k_2 & 0 \\ k_2 & -k_2 - k_3 & k_3 \\ 0 & k_3 & -k_3 - k_4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

More succinctly, the system is written as

$$M\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = K\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$$

where the **displacement** $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, mass matrix M and stiffness matrix K are defined by the formulas

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}, \ M = \begin{pmatrix} m_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_3 \end{pmatrix}, \ K = \begin{pmatrix} -k_1 - k_2 & k_2 & 0 \\ k_2 & -k_2 - k_3 & k_3 \\ 0 & k_3 & -k_3 - k_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Numerical example. Let $m_1 = 1$, $m_2 = 1$, $m_3 = 1$, $k_1 = 2$, $k_2 = 1$, $k_3 = 1$, $k_4 = 2$. Then the system is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1'' \\ x_2'' \\ x_3'' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -3 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & -3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The vector solution is given by the formula

$$\begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix} = (a_1 \cos t + b_1 \sin t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} + (a_2 \cos \sqrt{3}t + b_2 \sin \sqrt{3}t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} + (a_3 \cos 2t + b_3 \sin 2t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

where a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , b_1 , b_2 , b_3 are arbitrary constants.

Boxcars

A special case of the coupled spring-mass system is three boxcars on a level track connected by springs, as in Figure 15.



Figure 15. Three identical boxcars connected by identical springs.

Except for the springs on fixed ends, this problem is the same as the one of the preceding illustration, therefore taking $k_1 = k_4 = 0$, $k_2 = k_3 = k$, $m_1 = m_2 = m_3 = m$ gives the system

$$\begin{pmatrix} m & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1'' \\ x_2'' \\ x_3'' \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -k & k & 0 \\ k & -2k & k \\ 0 & k & -k \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Take k/m = 1 to obtain the illustration

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1 & 0\\ 1 & -2 & 1\\ 0 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}},$$

which has vector solution

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = (a_1 + b_1 t) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\1 \end{pmatrix} + (a_2 \cos t + b_2 \sin t) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\0\\-1 \end{pmatrix} + (a_3 \cos \sqrt{3}t + b_3 \sin \sqrt{3}t) \begin{pmatrix} 1\\-2\\1 \end{pmatrix},$$

where a_1 , a_2 , a_3 , b_1 , b_2 , b_3 are arbitrary constants.

The solution expression can be used to discover what happens to the boxcars when the springs act normally upon compression but disengage upon expansion. An interesting physical situation is when one car moves along the track, contacts two stationary cars, then transfers its momentum to the other cars, followed by disengagement.

Monatomic Crystals



Figure 16. A Crystal Model.

The n crystals are identical masses m assumed connected by equal springs of Hooke's constant k. The last mass is connected to the first mass.

The scalar differential equations for Figure 16 are written for mass positions x_1, \ldots, x_n , with $x_0 = x_n$, $x_{n+1} = x_1$ to account for the ring of identical masses (periodic boundary condition). Then for $k = 1, \ldots, n$

$$m\frac{d^2x_k}{dt^2} = k(x_{k+1} - x_k) + k(x_{k-1} - x_k) = k(x_{k-1} - 2x_k + x_{k+1}).$$

These equations represent a system x'' = Ax, where the symmetric matrix of coefficients $A = M^{-1}K$ is given for n = 5 and k/m = 1 by

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & -2 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

and $k/m = 1$, then $A = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and the solution

If n = 3 and k/m = 1, then $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - 2 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 - 2 \end{pmatrix}$ and the solutions $x_1, x_2,$

 x_3 are linear combinations of the functions 1, t, $\cos\sqrt{3}t$, $\sin\sqrt{3}t$.

Electrical Network I

Consider the LR-network of Figure 17.



Figure 17. An electrical network. There are three resistors R_1 , R_2 , R_3 and three inductors L_1 , L_2 , L_3 . The currents i_1 , i_2 , i_3 are defined between nodes (black dots). The derivation of the differential equations for the loop currents i_1 , i_2 , i_3 uses Kirchhoff's laws and the voltage drop formulas for resistors and inductors. The black dots in the diagram are the **nodes** that determine the beginning and end of each of the currents i_1 , i_2 , i_3 . Currents are defined only on the outer boundary of the network. Kirchhoff's node law determines the currents across L_2 , L_3 (arrowhead right) as $i_2 - i_1$ and $i_3 - i_1$, respectively. Similarly, $i_2 - i_3$ is the current across R_1 (arrowhead down). Using Ohm's law $V_R = RI$ and Faraday's law $V_L = LI'$ plus Kirchhoff's loop law algebraic sum of the voltage drops is zero around a closed loop (see the maple code below), we arrive at the model

$$\begin{aligned} i_1' &= - & \left(\frac{R_2}{L_1}\right)i_2 &- & \left(\frac{R_3}{L_1}\right)i_3, \\ i_2' &= - & \left(\frac{R_2}{L_2} + \frac{R_2}{L_1}\right)i_2 &+ & \left(\frac{R_1}{L_2} - \frac{R_3}{L_1}\right)i_3, \\ i_3' &= & \left(\frac{R_1}{L_3} - \frac{R_2}{L_1}\right)i_2 &- & \left(\frac{R_1}{L_3} + \frac{R_3}{L_1} + \frac{R_3}{L_3}\right)i_3 \end{aligned}$$

A computer algebra system is helpful to obtain the differential equations from the closed loop formulas. Part of the theory is that the number of equations equals the number of *holes* in the network, called the **connectivity**. Here's some **maple** code for determining the equations in scalar and also in vector-matrix form.

```
loop1:=L1*D(i1)+R3*i3+R2*i2=0;
loop2:=L2*D(i2)-L2*D(i1)+R1*(i2-i3)+R2*i2=0;
loop3:=L3*D(i3)-L3*D(i1)+R3*i3+R1*(i3-i2)=0;
f1:=solve(loop1,D(i1));
f2:=solve(subs(D(i1)=f1,loop2),D(i2));
f3:=solve(subs(D(i1)=f1,loop3),D(i3));
with(linalg):
jacobian([f1,f2,f3],[i1,i2,i3]);
```

Electrical Network II

Consider the LR-network of Figure 18. This network produces only two differential equations, even though there are three *holes* (connectivity 3). The derivation of the differential equations parallels the previous network, so nothing will be repeated here.

A computer algebra system is used to obtain the differential equations from the closed loop formulas. Below is maple code to generate the equations $i'_1 = f_1$, $i'_2 = f_2$, $i_3 = f_3$.

loop1:=L1*D(i1)+R2*(i1-i2)+R1*(i1-i3)=0; loop2:=L2*D(i2)+R3*(i2-i3)+R2*(i2-i1)=0;

```
loop3:=R3*(i3-i2)+R1*(i3-i1)=E;
f3:=solve(loop3,i3);
f1:=solve(subs(i3=f3,loop1),D(i1));
f2:=solve(subs(i3=f3,loop2),D(i2));
```



Figure 18. An electrical network.

There are three resistors R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , two inductors L_1 , L_2 and a battery E. The currents i_1 , i_2 , i_3 are defined between nodes (black dots).

The model, in the special case $L_1 = L_2 = 1$ and $R_1 = R_2 = R_3 = R$:

$$\begin{aligned} i'_1 &= - \frac{3R}{2}i_1 &+ \frac{3R}{2}i_2 &+ \frac{E}{2}, \\ i'_2 &= \frac{3R}{2}i_1 &- \frac{3R}{2}i_2 &+ \frac{E}{2}, \\ i_3 &= \frac{1}{2}i_1 &+ \frac{1}{2}i_2 &+ \frac{E}{2R}. \end{aligned}$$

It is easily justified that the solution of the differential equations for initial conditions $i_1(0) = i_2(0) = 0$ is given by

$$i_1(t) = \frac{E}{2}t, \quad i_2(t) = \frac{E}{2}t.$$

Logging Timber by Helicopter

Certain sections of National Forest in the USA do not have logging access roads. In order to log the timber in these areas, helicopters are employed to move the felled trees to a nearby loading area, where they are transported by truck to the mill. The felled trees are slung beneath the helicopter on cables.



Figure 19. Helicopter logging. Left: An Erickson helicopter lifts felled trees.

Right: Two trees are attached to the cable to lower transportation costs.

The payload for two trees approximates a double pendulum, which oscillates during flight. The angles of oscillation θ_1 , θ_2 of the two connecting cables, measured from the gravity vector direction, satisfy the following differential equations, in which g is the gravitation constant, m_1, m_2 denote the masses of the two trees and L_1 , L_2 are the cable lengths.

$$(m_1 + m_2)L_1^2\theta_1'' + m_2L_1L_2\theta_2'' + (m_1 + m_2)L_1g\theta_1 = 0, m_2L_1L_2\theta_1'' + m_2L_2^2\theta_2'' + m_2L_2g\theta_2 = 0.$$

This model is derived assuming small displacements θ_1 , θ_2 , that is, $\sin \theta \approx \theta$ for both angles, using the following diagram.



 θ_1 m_1 μ_2 m_2 μ_2 μ_2 measured from vertical.

The lengths L_1 , L_2 are adjusted on each trip for the length of the trees, so that the trees do not collide in flight with each other nor with the helicopter. Sometimes, three or more smaller trees are bundled together in a package, which is treated here as identical to a single, very thick tree hanging on the cable.

Vector-matrix model. The angles θ_1 , θ_2 satisfy the second-order vector-matrix equation

$$\begin{pmatrix} (m_1+m_2)L_1 & m_2L_2 \\ L_1 & L_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_1 \\ \theta_2 \end{pmatrix}'' = -\begin{pmatrix} m_1g+m_2g & 0 \\ 0 & g \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_1 \\ \theta_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

This system is equivalent to the second-order system

$$\begin{pmatrix} \theta_1 \\ \theta_2 \end{pmatrix}'' = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{m_1g + m_2g}{L_1m_1} & \frac{m_2g}{L_1m_1} \\ \frac{m_1g + m_2g}{L_2m_1} & -\frac{(m_1 + m_2)g}{L_2m_1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \theta_1 \\ \theta_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Earthquake Effects on Buildings

A horizontal earthquake oscillation $F(t) = F_0 \cos \omega t$ affects each floor of a 5-floor building; see Figure 21. The effect of the earthquake depends upon the natural frequencies of oscillation of the floors.

In the case of a single-floor building, the center-of-mass position x(t)of the building satisfies mx'' + kx = E and the natural frequency of oscillation is $\sqrt{k/m}$. The earthquake force E is given by Newton's second law: E(t) = -mF''(t). If $\omega \approx \sqrt{k/m}$, then the amplitude of x(t) is large compared to the amplitude of the force E. The amplitude increase in x(t) means that a small-amplitude earthquake wave can resonant with the building and possibly demolish the structure.





affects every floor. The actual wave has wavelength many times larger than the illustration.

The following assumptions and symbols are used to quantize the oscillation of the 5-floor building.

- Each floor is considered a point mass located at its center-of-mass. The floors have masses m_1, \ldots, m_5 .
- Each floor is restored to its equilibrium position by a linear restoring force or Hooke's force -k (elongation). The Hooke's constants are k_1, \ldots, k_5 .
- The locations of masses representing the 5 floors are x_1, \ldots, x_5 . The equilibrium position is $x_1 = \cdots = x_5 = 0$.
- Damping effects of the floors are ignored. This is a *frictionless* system.

The differential equations for the model are obtained by **competition**: the Newton's second law force is set equal to the sum of the Hooke's forces and the external force due to the earthquake wave. This results in the following system, where $k_6 = 0$, $E_j = m_j F''$ for j = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 and $F = F_0 \cos \omega t$.

$$m_1 x_1'' = -(k_1 + k_2)x_1 + k_2 x_2 + E_1, m_2 x_2'' = k_2 x_1 - (k_2 + k_3)x_2 + k_3 x_3 + E_2, m_3 x_3'' = k_3 x_2 - (k_3 + k_4)x_3 + k_4 x_4 + E_3, m_4 x_4'' = k_4 x_3 - (k_4 + k_5)x_4 + k_5 x_5 + E_4, m_5 x_5'' = k_5 x_4 - (k_5 + k_6)x_5 + E_5.$$

In particular, the equations for a floor depend only upon the neighboring floors. The bottom floor and the top floor are exceptions: they have just one neighboring floor.

Vector-matrix second order system. Define

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} m_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_3 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & m_4 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & m_5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \\ x_4 \\ x_5 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{H}} = \begin{pmatrix} E_1 \\ E_2 \\ E_3 \\ E_4 \\ E_5 \end{pmatrix},$$

	$(-k_1 - k_2)$	k_2	0	0	0)	
	k_2	$-k_2 - k_3$	k_3	0	0	
K =	0	k_3	$-k_3 - k_4$	k_4	0	
	0	0	k_4	$-k_4 - k_5$	k_5	
	0	0	0	k_5	$-k_5 - k_6$	1

In the last row, $k_6 = 0$, to reflect the absence of a floor above the fifth. The second order system is

$$M\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = K\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \vec{\mathbf{H}}(t).$$

The matrix M is called the **mass matrix** and the matrix K is called the **Hooke's matrix**. The **external force** $\vec{\mathbf{H}}(t)$ can be written as a scalar function E(t) = -F''(t) times a constant vector:

$$\vec{\mathbf{H}}(t) = -\omega^2 F_0 \cos \omega t \begin{pmatrix} m_1 \\ m_2 \\ m_3 \\ m_4 \\ m_5 \end{pmatrix}$$

Identical floors. Let us assume that all floors have the same mass m and the same Hooke's constant k. Then M = mI and the equation becomes

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = m^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} -2k & k & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ k & -2k & k & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & k & -2k & k & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & k & -2k & k \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & k & -k \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}} - F_0 \omega^2 \cos(\omega t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The Hooke's matrix K is symmetric $(K^T = K)$ with negative entries only on the diagonal. The last diagonal entry is -k (a common error is to write -2k).

Particular solution. The method of undetermined coefficients predicts a trial solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t) = \vec{\mathbf{c}} \cos \omega t$, because each differential equation has nonhomogeneous term $-F_0\omega^2 \cos \omega t$. The constant vector $\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ is found by trial solution substitution. Cancel the common factor $\cos \omega t$ in the substituted equation to obtain the equation $(m^{-1}K + \omega^2 I)\vec{\mathbf{c}} = F_0\omega^2\vec{\mathbf{b}}$, where $\vec{\mathbf{b}}$ is column vector of ones in the preceding display. Let $B(\omega) =$ $m^{-1}K + \omega^2 I$. Then the formula $B^{-1} = \frac{\operatorname{adj}(B)}{\operatorname{det}(B)}$ gives

$$\vec{\mathbf{c}} = F_0 \omega^2 \frac{\operatorname{adj}(B(\omega))}{\det(B(\omega))} \vec{\mathbf{b}}.$$

The constant vector $\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ can have a large magnitude when $\det(B(\omega)) \approx 0$. This occurs when $-\omega^2$ is nearly an eigenvalue of $m^{-1}K$. **Homogeneous solution**. The theory of this chapter gives the homogeneous solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t)$ as the sum

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{h}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{5} (a_{j} \cos \omega_{j} t + b_{j} \sin \omega_{j} t) \vec{\mathbf{v}}_{j}$$

where $r = \omega_j$ and $\vec{\mathbf{v}} = \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j \neq \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ satisfy

$$\left(\frac{1}{m}K+r^2I\right)\vec{\mathbf{v}}=\vec{\mathbf{0}}.$$

Special case k/m = 10. Then

$$\frac{1}{m}K = \begin{pmatrix} -20 & 10 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 10 & -20 & 10 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 10 & -20 & 10 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 10 & -20 & 10 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 10 & -10 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the values $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_5$ are found by solving the determinant equation $\det((1/m)K + \omega^2 I) = 0$, to obtain the values in Table 1.

Table 1. The natural frequencies for the special case k/m = 10.

Frequency	Value
ω_1	0.900078068
ω_2	2.627315231
ω_3	4.141702938
ω_4	5.320554507
ω_5	6.068366391

General solution. Superposition implies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$. Both terms of the general solution represent bounded oscillations.

Resonance effects. The special solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$ can be used to obtain some insight into practical resonance effects between the incoming earthquake wave and the building floors. When ω is close to one of the frequencies $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_5$, then the amplitude of a component of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p$ can be very large, causing the floor to take an excursion that is too large to maintain the structural integrity of the floor.

The **physical interpretation** is that an earthquake wave of the proper frequency, having time duration sufficiently long, can demolish a floor and hence demolish the entire building. The amplitude of the earthquake wave does not have to be large: a fraction of a centimeter might be enough to start the oscillation of the floors.

Earthquakes and Tsunamis

Seismic wave shape was studied for first order equations in Chapter 2, page 151. Recorded here are some historical notes about seismic waves and earthquake events.

The original **Richter scale**, with deprecated use in seismology, was invented by seismologist C. Richter to rank earthquake power.

The moment magnitude scale (M_W) has largely replaced the original Richter scale and its modified versions. The highest reported magnitude is 9.5 M_W by the United States Geological Survey for the Concepción, Chile earthquake of May 22, 1960. News reports and the general public still refer to earthquake magnitude using the term *Richter Scale*.

The Sumatra earthquake of December 26, 2004 occurred close to a deepsea trench, a subduction zone where one tectonic plate slips beneath another. Most of the earthquake energy is released in these areas as the two plates grind towards each other. Estimates of magnitude 8.8 M_W to 9.3 M_W followed the event. The US Geological Survey estimated 9.2 M_W .

The Chile earthquake and tsunami of 1960 has been documented well. Here is an account by Dr. Gerard Fryer of the Hawaii Institute of Geophysics and Planetology, in Honolulu.

The tsunami was generated by the Chile earthquake of May 22, 1960, the largest earthquake ever recorded: it was magnitude 9.6. What happened in the earthquake was that a piece of the Pacific seafloor (or strictly speaking, the Nazca Plate) about the size of California slid fifty feet beneath the continent of South America. Like a spring, the lower slopes of the South American continent offshore snapped upwards as much as twenty feet while land along the Chile coast dropped about ten feet. This change in the shape of the ocean bottom changed the shape of the sea surface. Since the sea surface likes to be flat, the pile of excess water at the surface collapsed to create a series of waves — the tsunami.

The tsunami, together with the coastal subsidence and flooding, caused tremendous damage along the Chile coast, where about 2,000 people died. The waves spread outwards across the Pacific. About 15 hours later the waves flooded Hilo, on the island of Hawaii, where they built up to 30 feet and caused 61 deaths along the waterfront. Seven hours after that, 22 hours after the earthquake, the waves flooded the coastline of Japan where 10-foot waves caused 200 deaths. The waves also caused damage in the Marquesas, in Samoa, and in New Zealand. Tidal gauges throughout the Pacific measured anomalous oscillations for about three days as the waves bounced from one side of the ocean to the other.

11.2 Basic First-order System Methods

Solving 2×2 Systems

It is shown here that *any* constant linear system

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}, \quad A = \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right)$$

can be solved by one of the following elementary methods.

- (a) The integrating factor method for y' = p(x)y + q(x).
- (b) The second order constant coefficient formulas in Theorem 45, Chapter 5.

Triangular A. Let's assume b = 0, so that A is lower triangular. The upper triangular case is handled similarly. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ has the scalar form

$$u'_1 = au_1, u'_2 = cu_1 + du_2.$$

The first differential equation is solved by the growth/decay formula:

$$u_1(t) = u_0 e^{at}.$$

Then substitute the answer just found into the second differential equation to give

$$u_2' = du_2 + cu_0 e^{at}$$

This is a linear first order equation of the form y' = p(x)y + q(x), to be solved by the integrating factor method. Therefore, a triangular system can always be solved by the first order integrating factor method.

An illustration. Let us solve $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ for the triangular matrix

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ representing } \begin{cases} u_1' = u_1, \\ u_2' = 2u_1 + u_2. \end{cases}$$

The first equation $u'_1 = u_1$ has solution $u_1 = c_1 e^t$. The second equation $u'_2 = 2u_1 + u_2$ becomes upon substitution of $u_1 = c_1 e^t$ the new equation

$$u_2' = 2c_1e^t + u_2,$$

which is a first order linear differential equation with linear integrating factor method solution $u_2 = (2c_1t + c_2)e^t$. The general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ in scalar form is

$$u_1 = c_1 e^t$$
, $u_2 = 2c_1 t e^t + c_2 e^t$.

The **vector form** of the general solution is

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = c_1 \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ 2te^t \end{pmatrix} + c_2 \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e^t \end{pmatrix}.$$

The **vector basis** is the set

$$\mathcal{B} = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{c} e^t \\ 2te^t \end{array} \right), \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ e^t \end{array} \right) \right\}.$$

Non-Triangular A. In order that A be non-triangular, both $b \neq 0$ and $c \neq 0$ must be satisfied. The scalar form of the system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ is

$$u'_1 = au_1 + bu_2,$$

 $u'_2 = cu_1 + du_2.$

Theorem 1 (Solving Non-Triangular $\vec{u}' = A\vec{u}$)

Solutions u_1 , u_2 of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ are linear combinations of the list of Euler solution atoms obtained from the roots r of the quadratic equation

$$\det(A - rI) = 0.$$

Proof: The method: differentiate the first equation, then use the equations to eliminate u_2 , u'_2 . The result is a second order differential equation for u_1 . The same differential equation is satisfied also for u_2 . The details:

$u_1^{\prime\prime} = a u_1^{\prime} + b u_2^{\prime}$	Differentiate the first equation.
$= au_1' + bcu_1 + bdu_2$	Use equation $u'_2 = cu_1 + du_2$.
$= au_1' + bcu_1 + d(u_1' - au_1)$	Use equation $u'_1 = au_1 + bu_2$.
$= (a+d)u_1' + (bc-ad)u_1$	Second order equation for u_1 found

The characteristic equation of $u_1'' - (a+d)u_1' + (ad-bc)u_1 = 0$ is

$$r^{2} - (a+d)r + (bc - ad) = 0.$$

Finally, we show the expansion of det(A - rI) is the same characteristic polynomial:

$$det(A - rI) = \begin{vmatrix} a - r & b \\ c & d - r \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= (a - r)(d - r) - bc$$
$$= r^2 - (a + d)r + ad - bc.$$

The proof is complete.

The reader can verify that the differential equation for u_1 or u_2 is exactly

$$u'' - \mathbf{trace}(A)u' + \det(A)u = 0.$$

Assume below that A is non-triangular, meaning $b \neq 0$ and $c \neq 0$.

Finding u_1 . Apply the second order formulas, Theorem 45 in Chapter 5, to solve for u_1 . This involves writing a list of Euler solution atoms

corresponding to the two roots of the characteristic equation $r^2 - (a + d)r + ad - bc = 0$, followed by expressing u_1 as a linear combination of the two Euler atoms.

Finding u_2 . Isolate u_2 in the first differential equation by division:

$$u_2 = \frac{1}{b}(u_1' - au_1)$$

The two formulas for u_1 , u_2 represent the general solution of the system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$, when A is 2×2 .

An illustration. Let's solve $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ when

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ representing } \begin{cases} u_1' = u_1 + 2u_2, \\ u_2' = 2u_1 + u_2. \end{cases}$$

The equation $\det(A - rI) = 0$ is $(1 - r)^2 - 4 = 0$ with roots r = -1 and r = 3. The Euler solution atom list is $L = \{e^{-t}, e^{3t}\}$. Then the linear combination of Euler atoms is $u_1 = c_1 e^{-t} + c_2 e^{3t}$. The first equation $u'_1 = u_1 + 2u_2$ implies $u_2 = \frac{1}{2}(u'_1 - u_1)$. The scalar general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ is then

$$u_1 = c_1 e^{-t} + c_2 e^{3t}, \quad u_2 = -c_1 e^{-t} + c_2 e^{3t}.$$

In vector form, the general solution is

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}} = c_1 \begin{pmatrix} e^{-t} \\ -e^{-t} \end{pmatrix} + c_2 \begin{pmatrix} e^{3t} \\ e^{3t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Triangular Methods

Diagonal $n \times n$ matrix $A = \text{diag}(a_1, \ldots, a_n)$. Then the system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is a set of uncoupled scalar growth/decay equations:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1'(t) &=& a_1 x_1(t), \\ x_2'(t) &=& a_2 x_2(t), \\ &\vdots \\ x_n'(t) &=& a_n x_n(t). \end{array}$$

The solution to the system is given by the formulas

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= c_1 e^{a_1 t}, \\ x_2(t) &= c_2 e^{a_2 t}, \\ &\vdots \\ x_n(t) &= c_n e^{a_n t}. \end{aligned}$$

The numbers c_1, \ldots, c_n are arbitrary constants.

Triangular $n \times n$ **matrix** A. If a linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ has a square triangular matrix A, then the system can be solved by first order scalar methods. To illustrate the ideas, consider the 3×3 linear system

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0\\ 3 & 3 & 0\\ 4 & 4 & 4 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}}$$

The coefficient matrix A is *lower triangular*. In scalar form, the system is given by the equations

$$\begin{aligned} x_1'(t) &= 2x_1(t), \\ x_2'(t) &= 3x_1(t) + 3x_2(t), \\ x_3'(t) &= 4x_1(t) + 4x_2(t) + 4x_3(t). \end{aligned}$$

A recursive method. The system is solved recursively by first order scalar methods only, starting with the first equation $x'_1(t) = 2x_1(t)$. This growth equation has general solution $x_1(t) = c_1 e^{2t}$. The second equation then becomes the first order linear equation

$$\begin{aligned} x'_2(t) &= 3x_1(t) + 3x_2(t) \\ &= 3x_2(t) + 3c_1e^{2t}. \end{aligned}$$

The integrating factor method applies to find the general solution $x_2(t) = -3c_1e^{2t}+c_2e^{3t}$. The third and last equation becomes the first order linear equation

$$\begin{aligned} x'_3(t) &= 4x_1(t) + 4x_2(t) + 4x_3(t) \\ &= 4x_3(t) + 4c_1e^{2t} + 4(-3c_1e^{2t} + c_2e^{3t}). \end{aligned}$$

The integrating factor method is repeated to find the general solution $x_3(t) = 4c_1e^{2t} - 4c_2e^{3t} + c_3e^{4t}$.

In summary, the scalar general solution to the system is given by the formulas

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(t) &= c_1 e^{2t}, \\ x_2(t) &= -3c_1 e^{2t} + c_2 e^{3t}, \\ x_3(t) &= 4c_1 e^{2t} - 4c_2 e^{3t} + c_3 e^{4t}. \end{aligned}$$

Structure of solutions. A system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ for $n \times n$ triangular A has component solutions $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t)$ given as polynomials times exponentials. The exponential factors $e^{a_{11}t}, \ldots, e^{a_{nn}t}$ are expressed in terms of the diagonal elements a_{11}, \ldots, a_{nn} of the matrix A. Fewer than n distinct exponential factors may appear, due to duplicate diagonal elements. These duplications cause the polynomial factors to appear. The reader is invited to work out the solution to the system below, which has duplicate diagonal entries $a_{11} = a_{22} = a_{33} = 2$.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1'(t) &=& 2x_1(t),\\ x_2'(t) &=& 3x_1(t) + 2x_2(t),\\ x_3'(t) &=& 4x_1(t) + 4x_2(t) + 2x_3(t) \end{array}$$

The solution, given below, has polynomial factors t and t^2 , appearing because of the duplicate diagonal entries 2, 2, 2, and only one exponential factor e^{2t} .

 $\begin{array}{rcl} x_1(t) &=& c_1 e^{2t}, \\ x_2(t) &=& 3c_1 t e^{2t} + c_2 e^{2t}, \\ x_3(t) &=& 4c_1 t e^{2t} + 6c_1 t^2 e^{2t} + 4c_2 t e^{2t} + c_3 e^{2t}. \end{array}$

Conversion to Systems

Routinely converted to a system of equations of first order are scalar second order linear differential equations, systems of scalar second order linear differential equations and scalar linear differential equations of higher order.

Scalar second order linear equations. Consider an equation au'' + bu' + cu = f where $a \neq 0, b, c, f$ are allowed to depend on t, t' = d/dt. Define the **position-velocity substitution**

$$x(t) = u(t), \quad y(t) = u'(t).$$

Then x' = u' = y and y' = u'' = (-bu' - cu + f)/a = -(b/a)y - (c/a)x + f/a. The resulting system is equivalent to the second order equation, in the sense that the position-velocity substitution equates solutions of one system to the other:

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= y(t), \\ y'(t) &= -\frac{c(t)}{a(t)}x(t) - \frac{b(t)}{a(t)}y(t) + \frac{f(t)}{a(t)}. \end{aligned}$$

The case of constant coefficients and f a function of t arises often enough to isolate the result for further reference.

Theorem 2 (System Equivalent to Second Order Linear)

Let $a \neq 0$, b, c be constants and f(t) continuous. Then au''+bu'+cu = f(t) is equivalent to the first order system

$$a\vec{\mathbf{w}}'(t) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a \\ -c & -b \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{w}}(t) + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f(t) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{w}}(t) = \begin{pmatrix} u(t) \\ u'(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Converting second order systems to first order systems. A similar position-velocity substitution can be carried out on a system of two second order linear differential equations. Assume

$$\begin{array}{rcl} a_1u_1''+b_1u_1'+c_1u_1 &=& f_1,\\ a_2u_2''+b_2u_2'+c_2u_2 &=& f_2. \end{array}$$

Then the preceding methods for the scalar case give the equivalence

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & a_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & a_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u'_1 \\ u_2 \\ u'_2 \end{pmatrix}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -c_1 & -b_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a_2 \\ 0 & 0 & -c_2 & -b_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} u_1 \\ u'_1 \\ u_2 \\ u'_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ f_1 \\ 0 \\ f_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Coupled spring-mass systems. Springs connecting undamped coupled masses were considered at the beginning of this chapter, page 754. Typical equations are

(1)
$$\begin{array}{rcl} m_1 x_1''(t) &=& -k_1 x_1(t) + k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)], \\ m_2 x_2''(t) &=& -k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)] + k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)], \\ m_3 x_3''(t) &=& -k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)] - k_4 x_3(t). \end{array}$$

The equations can be represented by a second order linear system of dimension 3 of the form $M\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = K\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, where the **position** $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, the **mass matrix** M and the **Hooke's matrix** K are given by the equalities

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M = \begin{pmatrix} m_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_3 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$K = \begin{pmatrix} -(k_1 + k_2) & k_2 & 0 \\ k_2 & -(k_2 + k_3) & k_3 \\ 0 & -k_3 & -(k_3 + k_4) \end{pmatrix}$$

Systems of second order linear equations. A second order system $M\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = K\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$ is called a **forced system** and $\vec{\mathbf{F}}$ is called the **external vector force**. Such a system can always be converted to a second order system where the mass matrix is the identity, by multiplying by M^{-1} :

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = M^{-1}K\vec{\mathbf{x}} + M^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t).$$

The benign form $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{G}}(t)$, where $A = M^{-1}K$ and $\vec{\mathbf{G}} = M^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{F}}$, admits a block matrix conversion into a first order system:

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & | I \\ \hline A & | 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{0}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{G}}(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Damped second order systems. The addition of a damper to each of the masses gives a **damped second order system** with forcing

$$M\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = B\vec{\mathbf{x}}' + K\vec{\mathbf{X}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t).$$

In the case of one scalar equation, the matrices M, B, K are constants m, -c, -k and the external force is a scalar function f(t), hence the system becomes the classical damped spring-mass equation

$$mx'' + cx' + kx = f(t).$$

A useful way to write the first order system is to introduce variable $\vec{\mathbf{u}} = M\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, in order to obtain the two equations

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = M\vec{\mathbf{x}}', \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}'' = B\vec{\mathbf{x}}' + K\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t).$$

Then a first order system in block matrix form is given by

$$\left(\begin{array}{c|c} M & 0 \\ \hline 0 & M \end{array}\right) \frac{d}{dt} \left(\begin{array}{c} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} 0 & M \\ \hline K & B \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \vec{\mathbf{0}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t) \end{array}\right).$$

The benign form $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = M^{-1}B\vec{\mathbf{x}}' + M^{-1}K\vec{\mathbf{x}} + M^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$, obtained by leftmultiplication by M^{-1} , can be similarly written as a first order system in block matrix form.

$$\frac{d}{dt} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & | I \\ \hline M^{-1}K & | M^{-1}B \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{0}} \\ M^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Higher order linear equations. Every homogeneous nth order constant-coefficient linear differential equation

$$y^{(n)} = p_0 y + \dots + p_{n-1} y^{(n-1)}$$

can be converted to a linear homogeneous vector-matrix system

$$\frac{d}{dx}\begin{pmatrix} y\\y'\\y''\\\vdots\\y^{(n-1)} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0\\\vdots\\\vdots\\0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1\\p_0 & p_1 & p_2 & \cdots & p_{n-1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y\\y'\\y''\\\vdots\\y^{(n-1)} \end{pmatrix}.$$

This is a linear system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ where $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ is the $n \times 1$ column vector consisting of y and its successive derivatives, while the $n \times n$ matrix A is the classical **companion matrix** of the characteristic polynomial

$$r^{n} = p_{0} + p_{1}r + p_{2}r^{2} + \dots + p_{n-1}r^{n-1}.$$

To illustrate, the companion matrix for $r^4 = a + br + cr^2 + dr^3$ is

$$A = \left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ a & b & c & d \end{array}\right).$$

The preceding companion matrix has the following block matrix form, which is representative of all companion matrices.

$$A = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \vec{\mathbf{0}} & I \\ \hline a & b & c & d \end{array}\right).$$

Continuous coefficients. It is routinely observed that the methods above for conversion to a first order system apply equally as well to higher order linear differential equations with continuous coefficients. To illustrate, the fourth order linear equation $y^{iv} = a(x)y + b(x)y' + c(x)y'' + d(x)y''$ has first order system form $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ where A is the companion matrix for the polynomial $r^4 = a(x) + b(x)r + c(x)r^2 + d(x)r^3$, x held fixed.

Forced higher order linear equations. All that has been said above applies equally to a forced linear equation like

$$y^{iv} = 2y + \sin(x)y' + \cos(x)y'' + x^2y''' + f(x).$$

It has a conversion to a first order nonhomogeneous linear system

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 2 & \sin x & \cos x & x^2 \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{u}} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ f(x) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}} = \begin{pmatrix} y \\ y' \\ y'' \\ y''' \end{pmatrix}.$$

11.3 Structure of Linear Systems

Linear systems. A **linear system** is a system of differential equations of the form

(1)
$$\begin{aligned} x_1' &= a_{11}x_1 + \cdots + a_{1n}x_n + f_1, \\ x_2' &= a_{21}x_1 + \cdots + a_{2n}x_n + f_2, \\ \vdots &\vdots & \ddots &\vdots \\ x_m' &= a_{m1}x_1 + \cdots + a_{mn}x_n + f_m, \end{aligned}$$

where ' = d/dt. Given are the functions $a_{ij}(t)$ and $f_j(t)$ on some interval a < t < b. The unknowns are the functions $x_1(t), \ldots, x_n(t)$.

The system is called **homogeneous** if all $f_j = 0$, otherwise it is called **non-homogeneous**.

Matrix Notation for Systems. A non-homogeneous system of linear equations (1) is written as the equivalent vector-matrix system

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t),$$

where

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ \vdots \\ x_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{f}} = \begin{pmatrix} f_1 \\ \vdots \\ f_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad A = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ a_{m1} & \cdots & a_{mn} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Existence-uniqueness. The fundamental theorem of Picard and Lindelöf applied to the matrix system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ says that a unique solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ exists for each initial value problem and the solution exists on the common interval of continuity of the entries in A(t) and $\vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$.

Three special results are isolated here, to illustrate how the Picard theory is applied to linear systems.

Theorem 3 (Unique Zero Solution)

Let A(t) be an $m \times n$ matrix with entries continuous on a < t < b. Then the initial value problem

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$$

has unique solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ on a < t < b.

Theorem 4 (Existence-Uniqueness for Constant Linear Systems)

Let A(t) = A be an $m \times n$ matrix with constant entries and let \vec{x}_0 be any *m*-vector. Then the initial value problem

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$$

has a unique solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ defined for all values of t.

Theorem 5 (Uniqueness and Solution Crossings)

Let A(t) be an $m \times n$ matrix with entries continuous on a < t < b and assume $\vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ is also continuous on a < t < b. If $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ and $\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ are solutions of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{u}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ on a < t < b and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(t_0)$ for some t_0 , $a < t_0 < b$, then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ for a < t < b.

Superposition. Linear homogeneous systems have linear structure and the solutions to nonhomogeneous systems obey a principle of superposition.

Theorem 6 (Linear Structure)

Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ have two solutions $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_1(t)$, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_2(t)$. If k_1 , k_2 are constants, then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = k_1 \vec{\mathbf{x}}_1(t) + k_2 \vec{\mathbf{x}}_2(t)$ is also a solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$.

The standard basis $\{\vec{\mathbf{w}}_k\}_{k=1}^n$. The Picard-Lindelöf theorem applied to initial conditions $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, with $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ successively set equal to the columns of the $n \times n$ identity matrix, produces n solutions $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n$ to the equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, all of which exist on the same interval a < t < b.

The linear structure theorem implies that for any choice of the constants c_1, \ldots, c_n , the vector linear combination

(2)
$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t) + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t) + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n(t)$$

is a solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$.

Conversely, if c_1, \ldots, c_n are taken to be the components of a given vector $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, then the above linear combination must be the unique solution of the initial value problem with $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. Therefore, all solutions of the equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ are given by the expression above, where c_1, \ldots, c_n are taken to be **arbitrary constants**. In summary:

Theorem 7 (Basis)

The solution set of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is an *n*-dimensional subspace of the vector space of all vector-valued functions $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$. Every solution has a unique basis expansion (2).

Theorem 8 (Superposition Principle)

Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ have a particular solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$. If $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is any solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$, then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ can be decomposed as **homogeneous plus** particular:

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t).$$

The term $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t)$ is a certain solution of the homogeneous differential equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, which means arbitrary constants c_1, c_2, \ldots have been assigned certain values. The particular solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$ can be selected to be free of any unresolved or arbitrary constants.

Theorem 9 (Difference of Solutions)

Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ have two solutions $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{v}}(t)$. Define $\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) - \vec{\mathbf{v}}(t)$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ satisfies the homogeneous equation

 $\vec{\mathbf{y}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{y}}.$

General Solution. We explain general solution by example. If a formula $x = c_1e^t + c_2e^{2t}$ is called a general solution, then it means that all possible solutions of the differential equation are expressed by this formula. In particular, it means that a given solution can be represented by the formula, by specializing values for the constants c_1 , c_2 . We expect the number of arbitrary constants to be the least possible number.

The general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ is an expression involving arbitrary constants c_1, c_2, \ldots and certain functions. The expression is often given in vector notation, although scalar expressions are commonplace and perfectly acceptable. Required is that the expression represents all solutions of the differential equation, in the following sense:

(a) Every **assignment of constants** produces a solution of the differential equation.

(b) Every possible solution is uniquely obtained from the expression by **specializing the constants**.

Due to the superposition principle, the constants in the general solution are identified as multipliers against solutions of the homogeneous differential equation. The general solution has some recognizable structure.

Theorem 10 (General Solution)

Let A(t) be $n \times n$ and $\vec{\mathbf{f}}(t) n \times 1$, both continuous on an interval a < t < b. The linear nonhomogeneous system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ has general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ given by the expression

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t).$$

The term $\vec{\mathbf{y}} = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t)$ is a general solution of the homogeneous equation $\vec{\mathbf{y}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{y}}$, in which are to be found *n* arbitrary constants c_1, \ldots, c_n . The term $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$ is a particular solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$, in which there are present no unresolved nor arbitrary constants.

Recognition of homogeneous solution terms. An expression $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ for the general solution of a nonhomogeneous equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ involves arbitrary constants c_1, \ldots, c_n . It is possible to isolate both terms $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p$ by a simple procedure.

To find $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p$, set to zero all arbitrary constants c_1, c_2, \ldots ; the resulting expression is free of unresolved and arbitrary constants.

To find $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h$, we find first the vector solutions $\vec{\mathbf{y}} = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_k(t)$ of $\vec{\mathbf{y}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{y}}$, which are multiplied by constants c_k . Then the general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h$ of the homogeneous equation $\vec{\mathbf{y}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{y}}$ is given by

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t) = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2(t) + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t).$$

Use partial derivatives on expression $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ to find the column vectors

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_k(t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial c_k} \, \vec{\mathbf{x}} \, .$$

This technique isolates the vector components of the homogeneous solution from any form of the general solution, including scalar formulas for the components of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. In any case, the general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ of the linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ is represented by the expression

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2(t) + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t).$$

In this expression, each assignment of the constants c_1, \ldots, c_n produces a solution of the nonhomogeneous system, and conversely, each possible solution of the nonhomogeneous system is obtained by a unique *specialization* of the constants c_1, \ldots, c_n .

To illustrate the ideas, consider a 3×3 linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t)$ with general solution

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \left(\begin{array}{c} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{array}\right)$$

given in scalar form by the expressions

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= c_1 e^t + c_2 e^{-t} + t, \\ x_2 &= (c_1 + c_2) e^t + c_3 e^{2t}, \\ x_3 &= (2c_2 - c_1) e^{-t} + (4c_1 - 2c_3) e^{2t} + 2t. \end{aligned}$$

To find the vector form of the general solution, we take partial derivatives $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_k = \frac{\partial \vec{\mathbf{x}}}{\partial c_k}$ with respect to the variable names c_1, c_2, c_3 :

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ -e^{-t} + 4e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-t} \\ e^t \\ 2e^{-t} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e^{2t} \\ -2e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

To find $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{p}(t)$, set $c_{1} = c_{2} = c_{3} = 0$:

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t) = \begin{pmatrix} t \\ 0 \\ 2t \end{pmatrix}.$$

Finally,

$$\begin{split} \vec{\mathbf{x}} &= c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2(t) + c_3 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t) \\ &= c_1 \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ -e^{-t} + 4e^{2t} \end{pmatrix} + c_2 \begin{pmatrix} e^{-t} \\ e^t \\ 2e^{-t} \end{pmatrix} + c_3 \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e^{2t} \\ -2e^{2t} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} t \\ 0 \\ 2t \end{pmatrix}. \end{split}$$

The expression $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2(t) + c_3 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t)$ satisfies required elements (a) and (b) in the definition of general solution. We will develop now a way to routinely test the uniqueness requirement in (b).

Independence. Constants c_1, \ldots, c_n in the general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}} =$ $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p$ appear exactly in the expression $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h$, which has the form

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n$$

A solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ uniquely determines the constants. In particular, the zero solution of the homogeneous equation is uniquely represented, which can be stated this way:

$$c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$$
 implies $c_1 = c_2 = \dots = c_n = 0.$

This statement equivalently says that the list of n vector-valued functions $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t), \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t)$ is linearly independent.

It is possible to write down a candidate general solution to some 3×3 linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ via equations like

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= c_1 e^t + c_2 e^t + c_3 e^{2t}, \\ x_2 &= c_1 e^t + c_2 e^t + 2 c_3 e^{2t}, \\ x_3 &= c_1 e^t + c_2 e^t + 4 c_3 e^{2t}. \end{aligned}$$

This example was constructed to contain a classic mistake, for purposes of illustration.

How can we detect a mistake, given only that this expression is supposed to represent the general solution? First of all, we can test that $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 =$ $\partial \vec{\mathbf{x}} / \partial c_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \partial \vec{\mathbf{x}} / \partial c_2$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \partial \vec{\mathbf{x}} / \partial c_3$ are indeed solutions. But to insure the unique representation requirement, the vector functions $\vec{u}_1,\,\vec{u}_2,\,\vec{u}_3$ must be linearly independent. We compute

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ e^t \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ e^t \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} e^{2t} \\ 2e^{2t} \\ 4e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

,

Therefore, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$, which implies that the functions $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_3$ fail to be independent. While is is possible to test independence by a rudimentary test based upon the definition, we prefer the following test due to Norwegian mathematician N. H. Abel (1802-1829).

Theorem 11 (Abel's Formula and the Wronskian)

Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_h(t) = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + \cdots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t)$ be a candidate general solution to the equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. In particular, the vector functions $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t), \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t)$ are solutions of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. Define the **Wronskian** by

$$w(t) = \det(\langle \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) | \cdots | \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t) \rangle \rangle.$$

Then Abel's formula holds:

$$w(t) = e^{\int_{t_0}^t \operatorname{trace}(A(s))ds} w(t_0).^5$$

In particular, w(t) is either everywhere nonzero or everywhere zero, accordingly as $w(t_0) \neq 0$ or $w(t_0) = 0$.

Theorem 12 (Abel's Wronskian Test for Independence)

The vector solutions $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n$ of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ are independent if and only if the Wronskian w(t) is nonzero for some $t = t_0$.

Clever use of the point t_0 in Abel's Wronskian test can lead to succinct independence tests. For instance, let

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ e^t \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ e^t \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} e^{2t} \\ 2e^{2t} \\ 4e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then w(t) might appear to be complicated, but w(0) is obviously zero because it has two duplicate columns. Therefore, Abel's Wronskian test detects **dependence** of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_3$.

To illustrate Abel's Wronskian test when it detects independence, consider the column vectors

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} e^t \\ e^t \\ -e^{-t} + 4e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} e^{-t} \\ e^t \\ 2e^{-t} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e^{2t} \\ -2e^{2t} \end{pmatrix}.$$

At $t = t_0 = 0$, they become the column vectors

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\3 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\1\\2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1\\-2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $w(0) = \det(\langle \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(0) | \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2(0) | \vec{\mathbf{u}}_3(0) \rangle) = 1$ is nonzero, testing **independence** of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_3$.

 $^{{}^{5}}$ The **trace** of a square matrix is the sum of its diagonal elements. In literature, the formula is called the **Abel-Liouville** formula.

Initial value problems and the rref method. An initial value problem is the problem of solving for \vec{x} , given

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{f}}(t), \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0.$$

If a general solution is known,

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t) + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t),$$

then the problem of finding $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ reduces to finding c_1, \ldots, c_n in the relation

$$c_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t_0) + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t_0) + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0.$$

This is a matrix equation for the unknown constants c_1, \ldots, c_n of the form $B\vec{c} = \vec{d}$, where

$$B = \langle \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1(t_0) | \cdots | \vec{\mathbf{u}}_n(t_0) \rangle, \quad \vec{\mathbf{c}} = \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{d}} = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 - \vec{\mathbf{x}}_p(t_0).$$

The **rref**-method applies to find $\vec{\mathbf{c}}$. The method is to perform swap, combination and multiply operations to $C = \langle B | \vec{\mathbf{d}} \rangle$ until $\mathbf{rref}(C) = \langle I | \vec{\mathbf{c}} \rangle$.

To illustrate the method, consider the general solution

$$\begin{aligned} x_1 &= c_1 e^t + c_2 e^{-t} + t, \\ x_2 &= (c_1 + c_2) e^t + c_3 e^{2t}, \\ x_3 &= (2c_2 - c_1) e^{-t} + (4c_1 - 2c_3) e^{2t} + 2t. \end{aligned}$$

We shall solve for c_1 , c_2 , c_3 , given the initial condition $x_1(0) = 1$, $x_2(0) = 0$, $x_3(0) = -1$. The above relations evaluated at t = 0 give the system

$$1 = c_1 e^0 + c_2 e^0 + 0,$$

$$0 = (c_1 + c_2) e^0 + c_3 e^0,$$

$$-1 = (2c_2 - c_1) e^0 + (4c_1 - 2c_3) e^0 + 0.$$

In standard scalar form, this is the 3×3 linear system

The augmented matrix C, to be reduced to **rref** form, is given by

$$C = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 3 & 2 & -2 & -1 \end{array}\right).$$

After the **rref** process is completed, we obtain

$$\mathbf{rref}(C) = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 1 & 0 & 0 & -5\\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 6\\ 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 \end{array}\right).$$

From this display, we read off the answer $c_1 = -5$, $c_2 = 6$, $c_3 = -1$ and report the final answer

$$\begin{array}{rcl} x_1 &=& -5e^t + 6e^{-t} + t, \\ x_2 &=& e^t - e^{2t}, \\ x_3 &=& 17e^{-t} - 18e^{2t} + 2t. \end{array}$$

Equilibria. An equilibrium point $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ of a linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is a constant solution, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ for all t. Mostly, this makes sense when A(t) is constant, although the definition applies to continuous systems. For a solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ to be constant means $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$, hence all equilibria are determined from the equation

$$A(t)\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$$
 for all t .

This is a homogeneous system of linear algebraic equations to be solved for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. It is not allowed for the answer $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ to depend on t (if it does, then it is **not** an equilibrium). The theory for a constant matrix $A(t) \equiv A$ says that either $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ is the unique solution or else there are infinitely many answers for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ (the nullity of A is positive).

11.4 Matrix Exponential

The problem

$$\frac{d}{dt}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t), \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_{0}$$

has a unique solution, according to the Picard-Lindelöf theorem. Solve the problem n times, when $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ equals a column of the identity matrix, and write $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t), \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n(t)$ for the n solutions so obtained. Define the **matrix exponential** e^{At} by packaging these n solutions into a matrix:

$$e^{At} \equiv \langle \vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t) | \dots | \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n(t) \rangle.$$

By construction, any possible solution of $\frac{d}{dt}\vec{\mathbf{x}} = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ can be uniquely expressed in terms of the matrix exponential e^{At} by the formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0).$$

Matrix Exponential Identities

Announced here and proved below are various formulas and identities for the matrix exponential e^{At} :

$$\begin{array}{ll} \displaystyle \frac{d}{dt} \left(e^{At} \right) = A e^{At} & \mbox{Columns satisfy } \vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A \vec{\mathbf{x}}. \\ e^{\vec{\mathbf{0}}} = I & \mbox{Where } \vec{\mathbf{0}} \mbox{ is the zero matrix.} \\ Be^{At} = e^{At} B & \mbox{If } AB = BA. \\ e^{At} e^{Bt} = e^{(A+B)t} & \mbox{If } AB = BA. \\ e^{At} e^{As} = e^{A(t+s)} & \mbox{Since } At \mbox{ and } As \mbox{ commute.} \\ \left(e^{At} \right)^{-1} = e^{-At} & \mbox{Equivalently, } e^{At} e^{-At} = I. \\ e^{At} = r_1(t)P_1 + \dots + r_n(t)P_n & \mbox{Putzer's spectral formula} - \\ e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t}I + \frac{e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}(A - \lambda_1 I) & \mbox{A is } 2 \times 2, \ \lambda_1 \neq \lambda_2 \ \mbox{real.} \\ e^{At} = e^{at} \cos bt \ I + \frac{e^{at} \sin bt}{b}(A - aI) & \mbox{A is } 2 \times 2, \ \lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda_2} = a + ib, \\ b > 0. \\ e^{At} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n \frac{t^n}{n!} & \mbox{Picard series. See page 786.} \\ e^{At} = P^{-1} e^{Jt}P & \mbox{Jordan form } J = PAP^{-1}. \end{array}$$

Putzer's Spectral Formula

The spectral formula of Putzer applies to a system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ to find its general solution. The method uses matrices P_1, \ldots, P_n constructed from A and the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ of A, matrix multiplication, and the solution $\vec{\mathbf{r}}(t)$ of the first order $n \times n$ initial value problem

$$\vec{\mathbf{r}}'(t) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0\\ 1 & \lambda_2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 1 & \lambda_3 & \cdots & 0 & 0\\ \vdots & & \vdots & & \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & \lambda_n \end{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{r}}(t), \quad \vec{\mathbf{r}}(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0\\ \vdots\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The system is solved by first order scalar methods and back-substitution. We will derive the formula separately for the 2×2 case (the one used most often) and the $n \times n$ case.

Spectral Formula 2×2

The general solution of the 2×2 system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is given by the formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = (r_1(t)P_1 + r_2(t)P_2)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0),$$

where r_1, r_2, P_1, P_2 are defined as follows.

The eigenvalues $r = \lambda_1, \lambda_2$ are the two roots of the quadratic equation

$$\det(A - rI) = 0.$$

Define 2×2 matrices P_1 , P_2 by the formulas

$$P_1 = I, \quad P_2 = A - \lambda_1 I.$$

The functions $r_1(t)$, $r_2(t)$ are defined by the differential system

$$\begin{cases} r'_1 = \lambda_1 r_1, & r_1(0) = 1, \\ r'_2 = \lambda_2 r_2 + r_1, & r_2(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$

Proof: The Cayley-Hamilton formula $(A - \lambda_1 I)(A - \lambda_2 I) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ is valid for any 2×2 matrix A and the two roots $r = \lambda_1, \lambda_2$ of the determinant equality $\det(A - rI) = 0$. The Cayley-Hamilton formula is the same as $(A - \lambda_2)P_2 = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$, which implies the identity $AP_2 = \lambda_2 P_2$. Compute as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) &= (r_1'(t)P_1 + r_2'(t)P_2) \,\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= (\lambda_1 r_1(t)P_1 + r_1(t)P_2 + \lambda_2 r_2(t)P_2) \,\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= (r_1(t)A + \lambda_2 r_2(t)P_2) \,\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= (r_1(t)A + r_2(t)AP_2) \,\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= A \, (r_1(t)I + r_2(t)P_2) \,\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= A \, \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t). \end{aligned}$$

This proves that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is a solution. Because $\Phi(t) \equiv r_1(t)P_1 + r_2(t)P_2$ satisfies $\Phi(0) = I$, then any possible solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ can be represented by the given formula. The proof is complete.

Real Distinct Eigenvalues. Suppose A is 2×2 having real distinct eigenvalues λ_1 , λ_2 and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ is real. Then

$$r_1 = e^{\lambda_1 t}, \quad r_2 = \frac{e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 T}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}$$

and

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \left(e^{\lambda_1 t}I + \frac{e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}(A - \lambda_1 I)\right) \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0).$$

The matrix exponential formula for real distinct eigenvalues:

$$e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t}I + \frac{e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} (A - \lambda_1 I).$$

Real Equal Eigenvalues. Suppose A is 2×2 having real equal eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ is real. Then $r_1 = e^{\lambda_1 t}$, $r_2 = te^{\lambda_1 t}$ and

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \left(e^{\lambda_1 t}I + te^{\lambda_1 t}(A - \lambda_1 I)\right)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0).$$

The matrix exponential formula for real equal eigenvalues:

$$e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t}I + te^{\lambda_1 t}(A - \lambda_1 I).$$

Complex Eigenvalues. Suppose A is 2×2 having complex eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = a + bi$ with b > 0 and $\lambda_2 = a - bi$. If $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ is real, then a real solution is obtained by taking the real part of the spectral formula. This formula is formally identical to the case of real distinct eigenvalues. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)) &= \left(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(r_1(t))I + \mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(r_2(t)(A - \lambda_1 I)))\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \right. \\ &= \left(\mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(e^{(a+ib)t})I + \mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(e^{at}\frac{\sin bt}{b}(A - (a+ib)I))\right)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ &= \left(e^{at}\cos bt\,I + e^{at}\frac{\sin bt}{b}(A - aI))\right)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \end{aligned}$$

The matrix exponential formula for complex conjugate eigenvalues:

$$e^{At} = e^{at} \left(\cos bt I + \frac{\sin bt}{b} (A - aI) \right) \right).$$
How to Remember Putzer's 2×2 Formula. The expressions

(1)
$$e^{At} = r_1(t)I + r_2(t)(A - \lambda_1 I),$$
$$r_1(t) = e^{\lambda_1 t}, \quad r_2(t) = \frac{e^{\lambda_1 t} - e^{\lambda_2 t}}{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2}$$

are enough to generate all three formulas. Fraction r_2 is the $d/d\lambda$ -Newton quotient for r_1 . It has limit $te^{\lambda_1 t}$ as $\lambda_2 \to \lambda_1$, therefore the formula includes the case $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$ by limiting. If $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2 = a + ib$ with b > 0, then the fraction r_2 is already real, because it has for $z = e^{\lambda_1 t}$ and $w = \lambda_1$ the form

$$r_2(t) = \frac{z - \overline{z}}{w - \overline{w}} = \frac{\sin bt}{b}$$

Taking real parts of expression (1) gives the complex case formula.

Spectral Formula $n \times n$

The general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is given by the formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = (r_1(t)P_1 + r_2(t)P_2 + \dots + r_n(t)P_n)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0),$$

where $r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_n, P_1, P_2, \ldots, P_n$ are defined as follows.

The eigenvalues $r = \lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ are the roots of the polynomial equation

$$\det(A - rI) = 0.$$

Define $n \times n$ matrices P_1, \ldots, P_n by the formulas

$$P_1 = I, \quad P_k = P_{k-1}(A - \lambda_{k-1}I) = \prod_{j=1}^{k-1}(A - \lambda_j I), \quad k = 2, \dots, n.$$

The functions $r_1(t), \ldots, r_n(t)$ are defined by the differential system

$$\begin{aligned} r_1' &= \lambda_1 r_1, & r_1(0) = 1, \\ r_2' &= \lambda_2 r_2 + r_1, & r_2(0) = 0, \\ &\vdots \\ r_n' &= \lambda_n r_n + r_{n-1}, & r_n(0) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

Proof: The Cayley-Hamilton formula $(A - \lambda_1 I) \cdots (A - \lambda_n I) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ is valid for any $n \times n$ matrix A and the n roots $r = \lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ of the determinant equality $\det(A - rI) = 0$. Two facts will be used: (1) The Cayley-Hamilton formula implies $AP_n = \lambda_n P_n$; (2) The definition of P_k implies $\lambda_k P_k + P_{k+1} = AP_k$ for $1 \le k \le n - 1$. Compute as follows.

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{1} \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = (r_1'(t)P_1 + \dots + r_n'(t)P_n)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \\ \hline \mathbf{2} \quad = \left(\sum_{k=1}^n \lambda_k r_k(t)P_k + \sum_{k=2}^n r_{k-1}P_k\right)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{3} &= \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \lambda_k r_k(t) P_k + r_n(t) \lambda_n P_n + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} r_k P_{k+1}\right) \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \mathbf{4} &= \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} r_k(t) (\lambda_k P_k + P_{k+1}) + r_n(t) \lambda_n P_n\right) \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \mathbf{5} &= \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} r_k(t) A P_k + r_n(t) A P_n\right) \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \mathbf{6} &= A \left(\sum_{k=1}^n r_k(t) P_k\right) \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \\ \mathbf{7} &= A \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t). \end{aligned}$$

Details: 1 Differentiate the formula for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$. 2 Use the differential equations for r_1, \ldots, r_n . 3 Split off the last term from the first sum, then re-index the last sum. 4 Combine the two sums. 5 Use the recursion for P_k and the Cayley-Hamilton formula $(A - \lambda_n I)P_n = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$. 6 Factor out A on the left. 7 Apply the definition of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$.

This proves that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is a solution. Because $\Phi(t) \equiv \sum_{k=1}^{n} r_k(t) P_k$ satisfies $\Phi(0) = I$, then any possible solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ can be so represented. The proof is complete.

Proofs of Matrix Exponential Properties

(

Verify $(e^{At})' = Ae^{At}$. Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ denote a column of the identity matrix. Define $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. Then

$$\left| e^{At} \right|' \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 = \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t)$$

$$= A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$$

$$= Ae^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0.$$

Because this identity holds for all columns of the identity matrix, then $(e^{At})'$ and Ae^{At} have identical columns, hence we have proved the identity $(e^{At})' = Ae^{At}$.

Verify AB = BA implies $Be^{At} = e^{At}B$. Define $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t) = e^{At}B\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0$ and $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t) = Be^{At}\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0$. Calculate $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t)$ and $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2'(t) = BAe^{At}\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0 = ABe^{At}\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0 = ABe^{At}\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0 = A\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t)$, due to BA = AB. Because $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(0) = \vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(0) = \vec{\mathbf{w}}_0$, then the uniqueness assertion of the Picard-Lindelöf theorem implies that $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t) = \vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t)$. Because $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_0$ is any vector, then $e^{At}B = Be^{At}$. The proof is complete.

Verify $e^{At}e^{Bt} = e^{(A+B)t}$. Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ be a column of the identity matrix. Define $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}e^{Bt}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ and $\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t) = e^{(A+B)t}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. We must show that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ for all t. Define $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = e^{Bt}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. We will apply the result $e^{At}B = Be^{At}$, valid for BA = AB. The details:

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = (e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t))' \\
= Ae^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) + e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}'(t) \\
= A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + e^{At}B\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) \\
= A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + Be^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) \\
= (A+B)\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t).$$

0.

We also know that $\vec{\mathbf{y}}'(t) = (A+B)\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ and since $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, then the Picard-Lindelöf theorem implies that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ for all t. This completes the proof.

Verify $e^{At}e^{As} = e^{A(t+s)}$. Let t be a variable and consider s fixed. Define $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}e^{As}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ and $\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t) = e^{A(t+s)}\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(0)$ and both satisfy the differential equation $\vec{\mathbf{u}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$. By the uniqueness in the Picard-Lindelöf theorem, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$, which implies $e^{At}e^{As} = e^{A(t+s)}$. The proof is complete.

Verify $e^{At} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n \frac{t^n}{n!}$. The idea of the proof is to apply Picard iteration.

By definition, the columns of e^{At} are vector solutions $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t), \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n(t)$ whose values at t = 0 are the corresponding columns of the $n \times n$ identity matrix. According to the theory of Picard iterates, a particular iterate is defined by

$$\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{n+1}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}_0 + \int_0^t A \vec{\mathbf{y}}_n(r) dr, \quad n \ge 0$$

The vector $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_0$ equals some column of the identity matrix. The Picard iterates can be found explicitly, as follows.

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{1}(t) &= \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} A \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0} dr \\ &= (I + At) \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0}, \\ \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{2}(t) &= \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} A \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{1}(r) dr \\ &= \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0} + \int_{0}^{t} A (I + At) \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0} dr \\ &= (I + At + A^{2}t^{2}/2) \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{0}, \\ &\vdots \\ \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{n}(t) &= \left(I + At + A^{2} \frac{t^{2}}{2} + \dots + A^{n} \frac{t^{n}}{n!}\right) \vec{\mathbf{y}} \end{aligned}$$

The Picard-Lindelöf theorem implies that for $\mathbf{y}_0 = \text{column } k$ of the identity matrix,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \vec{\mathbf{y}}_n(t) = \vec{\mathbf{w}}_k(t)$$

This being valid for each index k, then the columns of the matrix sum

$$\sum_{m=0}^{N} A^m \frac{t^m}{m!}$$

converge as $N \to \infty$ to $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t), \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{w}}_n(t)$. This implies the matrix identity

$$e^{At} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A^n \frac{t^n}{n!}.$$

The proof is complete.

Computing e^{At}

Theorem 13 (Computing e^{Jt} for J Triangular)

If J is an upper triangular matrix, then a column $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$ of e^{Jt} can be computed by solving the system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}'(t) = J\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{v}}$, where $\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ is the

corresponding column of the identity matrix. This problem can always be solved by first-order scalar methods of growth-decay theory and the integrating factor method.

Theorem 14 (Exponential of a Diagonal Matrix)

For real or complex constants $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$,

$$e^{\operatorname{diag}(\lambda_1,\ldots,\lambda_n)t} = \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{\lambda_1 t},\ldots,e^{\lambda_n t}\right).$$

Theorem 15 (Block Diagonal Matrix)

If $A = \operatorname{diag}(B_1, \ldots, B_k)$ and each of B_1, \ldots, B_k is a square matrix, then

$$e^{At} = \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{B_1t}, \dots, e^{B_kt}\right).$$

Theorem 16 (Complex Exponential)

Given real a, b, then

$$e^{\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix}^{t}} = e^{at} \begin{pmatrix} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{pmatrix}.$$

Exercises 11.4

Matrix Exponential.

- 1. (Picard) Let A be real 2×2 . Write out the two initial value problems which define the columns $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t)$, $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t)$ of e^{At} .
- 2. (Picard) Let A be real 3×3 . Write out the three initial value problems which define the columns $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(t)$, $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(t)$, $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_3(t)$ of e^{At} .
- **3.** (Definition) Let A be real 2×2 . Show that the solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}_0$ satisfies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0$.
- 4. Definition Let A be real $n \times n$. Show that the solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ satisfies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. 10.

Matrix Exponential 2 × 2. Find e^{At} using the formula $e^{At} = \langle \vec{\mathbf{w}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{w}}_2 \rangle$ and the corresponding systems $\vec{\mathbf{w}}'_1 = \begin{vmatrix} 11 \\ 12 \\ 13 \end{vmatrix}$

$$A\vec{\mathbf{w}}_1, \ \vec{\mathbf{w}}_1(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 1\\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \vec{\mathbf{w}}_2' = A\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2,$$
 14.

 $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_2(0) = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\1 \end{pmatrix}$. In these exercises A is triangular so that first-order methods can solve the systems.

~ >

5.
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
.
6. $A = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.
7. $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.
8. $A = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$.

1 .

Matrix Exponential Identities.

Putzer's Spectral Formula.	How to Remember Putzer's 2×2 Formula.					
15.	35.					
16.	36.					
17.	37.					
18.	38.					
Spectral Formula 2×2 .	Spectral Formula $n imes n$.					
19.	39.					
20.	40.					
21.	41.					
22.	42.					
Real Distinct Eigenvalues.	43.					
23.	44.					
24.	45.					
25.	46.					
26.	Proofs of Matrix Exponential Properties.					
Real Equal Eigenvalues.						
27.	47.					
28.	48.					
29.	49.					
30.	50.					
Complex Eigenvalues.	Computing e^{At} .					
31.	51.					
32.	52.					
33.	53.					
34.	54.					

11.5 The Eigenanalysis Method

The general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ of the linear system

 $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$

can be obtained entirely by eigenanalysis of the matrix A. A computationally useful case is when the $n \times n$ matrix A has n independent eigenvectors in its list of eigenpairs

$$(\lambda_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1), (\lambda_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2), \ldots, (\lambda_n, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n).$$

It is not required that the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ be distinct. The eigenvalues can be real or complex.

The Eigenanalysis Method for a 2×2 Matrix

Suppose that A is 2×2 real and has eigenpairs

$$(\lambda_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1), \quad (\lambda_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2),$$

with $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2$ independent. The eigenvalues λ_1 , λ_2 can be both real. Also, they can be a complex conjugate pair $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2 = a + ib$ with b > 0. It will be shown that the general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ can be written as

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2.$$

The details:

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{\mathbf{x}}' &= c_1 (e^{\lambda_1 t})' \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 (e^{\lambda_2 t})' \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 & \text{Differentiate the formula for } \vec{\mathbf{x}}. \\ &= c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \lambda_1 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} \lambda_2 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 & \\ &= c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} A \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} A \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 & \text{Use } \lambda_1 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = A \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ \lambda_2 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 = A \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2. \\ &= A \left(c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \right) & \text{Factor } A \text{ left.} \\ &= A \vec{\mathbf{x}} & \text{Definition of } \vec{\mathbf{x}}. \end{aligned}$$

Let's rewrite the solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ in the vector-matrix form

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \rangle \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 t} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{\lambda_2 t} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2$ are assumed independent, then $\langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \rangle$ is invertible and setting t = 0 in the previous display gives

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix} = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \rangle^{-1} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0).$$

Because c_1 , c_2 can be chosen to produce any initial condition $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$, then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is the general solution of the system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$.

The general solution expressed as $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ leads to the exponential matrix relation

$$e^{At} = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \rangle \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 t} & 0\\ 0 & e^{\lambda_2 t} \end{pmatrix} \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 \rangle^{-1}.$$

The formula is immediately useful when the eigenpairs are real.

Complex conjugate eigenvalues. First, eigenpair $(\lambda_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2)$ is never computed or used, because $A\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \lambda_1\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ implies $A\overline{\vec{\mathbf{v}}}_1 = \overline{\lambda}_1\overline{\vec{\mathbf{v}}}_1$, which implies $\lambda_2 = \overline{\lambda}_1$ has eigenvector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 = \overline{\vec{\mathbf{v}}}_1$.

If A is real, then e^{At} is real, and taking real parts across the formula for e^{At} will give a real formula. Due to the unpleasantness of the complex algebra, we will report the answer found, which is *real*, and then justify it with minimal use of complex numbers.

Define for eigenpair $(\lambda_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1)$ symbols a, b, P as follows:

$$\lambda_1 = a + ib, \quad b > 0, \quad P = \langle \mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) | \mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) \rangle$$

Then

(1)
$$e^{At} = e^{at} P \left(\begin{array}{c} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{array} \right) P^{-1}$$

Justification of (1). The formula is established by showing that the matrix $\Phi(t)$ on the right satisfies $\Phi(0) = I$ and $\Phi' = A\Phi$. Then by definition, $e^{At} = \Phi(t)$. For exposition, let

$$R(t) = e^{at} \begin{pmatrix} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{pmatrix}, \quad \Phi(t) = PR(t)P^{-1}.$$

The identity $\Phi(0) = I$ verified as follows.

$$\Phi(0) = PR(0)P^{-1} = Pe^0 \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} P^{-1} = I$$

Write $\lambda_1 = a + ib$ and $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) + i\mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1)$. The expansion of eigenpair relation $A\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \lambda_1\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ into real and imaginary parts gives the relation

$$A\left(\mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) + i\mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1)\right) = (a + ib)\left(\mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) + i\mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1)\right),$$

which shows that

$$AP = P \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ -b & a \end{array} \right).$$

Then

$$\begin{split} \Phi'(t)\Phi^{-1}(t) &= PR'(t)P^{-1}PR^{-1}(t)P^{-1} \\ &= PR'(t)R^{-1}(t)P^{-1} \\ &= P\left(aI + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & b \\ -b & 0 \end{pmatrix}\right)P^{-1} \\ &= P\left(\begin{array}{c} a & b \\ -b & a \end{array} \right)P^{-1} \\ &= A \end{split}$$

The proof of $\Phi'(t) = A\Phi(t)$ is complete.

The formula for e^{At} implies that the general solution in this special case is

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{at} \langle \mathcal{R}\mathbf{e}(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) | \mathcal{I}\mathbf{m}(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) \rangle \begin{pmatrix} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The values c_1 , c_2 are related to the initial condition $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ by the matrix identity

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix} = \langle \mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) | \mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1))^{-1} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) \rangle.$$

The Eigenanalysis Method for a 3×3 Matrix

Suppose that A is 3×3 real and has eigenpairs

$$(\lambda_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1), \quad (\lambda_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2), \quad (\lambda_3, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3),$$

with $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3$ independent. The eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$ can be all real. Also, there can be one real eigenvalue λ_3 and a complex conjugate pair of eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2 = a + ib$ with b > 0.

The general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ can be written as

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 + c_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 + c_3 e^{\lambda_3 t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3.$$

The details parallel the 2×2 details; they are left as an exercise for the reader.

The solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is written in vector-matrix form

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \rangle \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 t} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{\lambda_2 t} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{\lambda_3 t} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} c_1\\ c_2\\ c_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because the three eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_3$ are assumed independent, then $\langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \rangle$ is invertible. Setting t = 0 in the previous display gives

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ c_2 \\ c_2 \end{pmatrix} = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \rangle^{-1} \vec{\mathbf{x}} (0).$$

Constants c_1 , c_2 , c_3 can be chosen to produce any initial condition $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$, therefore $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is the general solution of the 3×3 system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. There is a corresponding exponential matrix relation

$$e^{At} = \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \right\rangle \begin{pmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 t} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & e^{\lambda_2 t} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{\lambda_3 t} \end{pmatrix} \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \right\rangle^{-1}.$$

This formula is normally used when the eigenpairs are real. When there is a complex conjugate pair of eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2 = a + ib$, b > 0, then as was shown in the 2 × 2 case it is possible to extract a real solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ from the complex formula and report a real form for the exponential matrix:

$$e^{At} = P \begin{pmatrix} e^{at} \cos bt & e^{at} \sin bt & 0\\ -e^{at} \sin bt & e^{at} \cos bt & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{\lambda_3 t} \end{pmatrix} P^{-1},$$
$$P = \langle \mathcal{R}e(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1) | \mathcal{I}m(\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1), \vec{\mathbf{v}}_3 \rangle.$$

The Eigenanalysis Method for an $n \times n$ Matrix

The general solution formula and the formula for e^{At} generalize easily from the 2 × 2 and 3 × 3 cases to the general case of an $n \times n$ matrix.

Theorem 17 (The Eigenanalysis Method)

Let the $n \times n$ real matrix A have eigenpairs

$$(\lambda_1, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1), (\lambda_2, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2), \ldots, (\lambda_n, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n)$$

with *n* independent eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n$. Then the general solution of the linear system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is given by

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = c_1 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} + c_2 \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 e^{\lambda_2 t} + \dots + c_n \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n e^{\lambda_n t}.$$

The vector-matrix form of the general solution is

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \cdots | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n \rangle \operatorname{diag}(e^{\lambda_1 t}, \dots, e^{\lambda_n t}) \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

This form is real provided all eigenvalues are real. A real form can be made from a complex form by following the example of a 3×3 matrix A. The plan is to list all complex eigenvalues first, in pairs, $\lambda_1, \overline{\lambda}_1, \ldots, \lambda_p, \overline{\lambda}_p$. Then the real eigenvalues r_1, \ldots, r_q are listed, 2p+q=n. Define

$$P = \langle \mathcal{R}e(\mathbf{\vec{v}}_1) | \mathcal{I}m(\mathbf{\vec{v}}_1) | \dots | \mathcal{R}e(\mathbf{\vec{v}}_{2p-1}) | \mathcal{I}m(\mathbf{\vec{v}}_{2p-1}) | \mathbf{\vec{v}}_{2p+1} | \dots | \mathbf{\vec{v}}_n \rangle$$

$$R_{\lambda}(t) = e^{at} \begin{pmatrix} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad \lambda + a + ib, \quad b > 0.$$

Then the real vector-matrix form of the general solution is

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = P \operatorname{diag}(R_{\lambda_1}(t), \dots, R_{\lambda_p}(t), e^{r_1 t}, \dots, e^{r_q t}) \begin{pmatrix} c_1 \\ \vdots \\ c_n \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$e^{At} = P \operatorname{diag}(R_{\lambda_1}(t), \dots, R_{\lambda_p}(t), e^{r_1 t}, \dots, e^{r_q t}) P^{-1}.$$

Spectral Theory Methods

The simplicity of Putzer's spectral method for computing e^{At} is appreciated, but we also recognize that the literature has an algorithm to compute e^{At} , devoid of differential equations, which is of fundamental importance in linear algebra. The parallel algorithm computes e^{At} directly from the eigenvalues λ_j of A and certain products of the nilpotent matrices $A - \lambda_j I$. Called **spectral formulas**, they can be implemented in a numerical laboratory or computer algebra system, in order to efficiently compute e^{At} , even in the case of multiple eigenvalues.

Theorem 18 (Computing e^{At} for Simple Eigenvalues)

Let the $n \times n$ matrix A have n simple eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n$ (possibly complex) and define constant matrices $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_n$ by the formulas

$$\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j = \prod_{i \neq j} \frac{A - \lambda_i I}{\lambda_j - \lambda_i}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n$$

Then

$$e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1 + \dots + e^{\lambda_n t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_n.$$

Theorem 19 (Computing e^{At} for Multiple Eigenvalues)

Let the $n \times n$ matrix A have k distinct eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$ of algebraic multiplicities m_1, \ldots, m_k . Let $p(\lambda) = \det(A - \lambda I)$ and define polynomials $a_1(\lambda), \ldots, a_k(\lambda)$ by the partial fraction identity

$$\frac{1}{p(\lambda)} = \frac{a_1(\lambda)}{(\lambda - \lambda_1)^{m_1}} + \dots + \frac{a_k(\lambda)}{(\lambda - \lambda_k)^{m_k}}.$$

Define constant matrices $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_k$ by the formulas

$$\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j = a_j(A) \Pi_{i \neq j} (A - \lambda_i I)^{m_i}, \quad j = 1, \dots, k.$$

Then

(2)
$$e^{At} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} e^{\lambda_i t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i \sum_{j=0}^{m_i - 1} (A - \lambda_i I)^j \frac{t^j}{j!}.$$

Proof: Let $\vec{\mathbf{N}}_i = \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i (A - \lambda_i I), 1 \le i \le k$. We first prove

Lemma 1 (Properties) 1. $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1 + \dots + \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_k = I$, 2. $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i = \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i$, 3. $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ for $i \neq j$, 4. $\vec{\mathbf{N}}_i \vec{\mathbf{N}}_j = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ for $i \neq j$, 5. $\vec{\mathbf{N}}_i^{m_i} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$, 6. $A = \sum_{i=1}^k (\lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i + \vec{\mathbf{N}}_i)$.

The proof of **1** follows from clearing fractions in the partial fraction expansion of $1/p(\lambda)$:

$$1 = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i(\lambda) \frac{p(\lambda)}{(\lambda - \lambda_i)^{m_i}}.$$

The **projection property 2** follows by multiplication of identity 1 by $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i$ and then using 2.

The proof of **3** starts by observing that $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i$ and $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j$ together contain all the factors of p(A), therefore $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j = q(A)p(A)$ for some polynomial q. The Cayley-Hamilton theorem $p(A) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ finishes the proof.

To prove **4**, write $\vec{\mathbf{N}}_i \vec{\mathbf{N}}_j = (A - \lambda_i I)(A - \lambda_j I)\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_j$ and apply **3**. To prove **5**, use $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i^{m_i} = \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i$ (from **2**) to write $\vec{\mathbf{N}}_i^{m_i} = (A - \lambda_i I)^{m_i} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_i = p(A) = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$. To prove **6**, multiply **1** by *A* and rearrange as follows:

$$A = \sum_{i=1}^{k} A \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i}$$

= $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_{i} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} + (A - \lambda_{i}I) \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i}$
= $\sum_{i=1}^{k} \lambda_{i} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} + \vec{\mathbf{N}}_{i}$

To prove (2), multiply **1** by e^{At} and compute as follows:

$$\begin{split} e^{At} &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{At} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{\lambda_{i} It + (A - \lambda_{i} I)t} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{\lambda_{i} t} e^{(A - \lambda_{i} I)t} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{\lambda_{i} t} e^{\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} (A - \lambda_{i} I)t} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{\lambda_{i} t} e^{\vec{\mathbf{N}}_{i} t} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_{i} e^{\lambda_{i} t} \sum_{j=0}^{m_{1}-1} (A - \lambda_{i} I)^{j} \frac{t^{j}}{j!} \end{split}$$

Solving Planar Systems $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$

A 2 × 2 real system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ can be solved in terms of the roots of the characteristic equation det $(A - \lambda I) = 0$ and the real matrix A.

Theorem 20 (Planar System, Putzer's Spectral Formula)

Consider the real planar system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$. Let λ_1 , λ_2 be the roots of the characteristic equation $\det(A - \lambda I) = 0$. The real general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is given by the formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$$

where the 2×2 exponential matrix e^{At} is given as follows.

Real $\lambda_1 eq \lambda_2$	$e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t}I + \frac{e^{\lambda_2 t} - e^{\lambda_1 t}}{\lambda_2 - \lambda_1} (A - \lambda_1 I).$
Real $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$	$e^{At} = e^{\lambda_1 t}I + te^{\lambda_1 t}(A - \lambda_1 I).$
Complex $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2$, $\lambda_1 = a + bi$, $b > 0$	$e^{At} = e^{at} \cos bt I + \frac{e^{at} \sin(bt)}{b} (A - aI).$

Proof: The formulas are from Putzer's algorithm, or equivalently, from the spectral formulas, with rearranged terms. The complex case is formally the real part of the distinct root case when $\lambda_2 = \overline{\lambda}_1$. The **spectral formula** is the analog of the second order equation formulas, Theorem 45 in Chapter 5.

Illustrations. Typical cases are represented by the following 2×2 matrices A, which correspond to roots λ_1 , λ_2 of the characteristic equation det $(A - \lambda I) = 0$ which are real distinct, real double or complex conjugate. The solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ is given here in two forms, by writing e^{At} using $\mathbf{1}$ a spectral formula and $\mathbf{2}$ Putzer's spectral formula.

$$\lambda_{1} = 5, \ \lambda_{2} = 2$$

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 3 \\ -6 & 8 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\boxed{1} e^{At} = \frac{e^{5t}}{3} \begin{pmatrix} -3 & 3 \\ -6 & 6 \end{pmatrix} + \frac{e^{2t}}{-3} \begin{pmatrix} -6 & 3 \\ -6 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$\boxed{2} e^{At} = e^{5t}I + \frac{e^{2t} - e^{5t}}{2 - 5} \begin{pmatrix} -6 & 3 \\ -6 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$$

 $\lambda_{1} = \lambda_{2} = 3$ $A = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 1 \\ -1 & 4 \end{pmatrix}$ $\boxed{1} e^{At} = e^{3t} \begin{pmatrix} I + t \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$ $\boxed{2} e^{At} = e^{3t}I + te^{3t} \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$

$$\lambda_{1} = \overline{\lambda}_{2} = 2 + 3i$$

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 3 \\ -3 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$1 e^{At} = 2 \mathcal{R}e \left(\frac{e^{2t+3it}}{2(3i)} \begin{pmatrix} 3i & 3 \\ -3 & 3i \end{pmatrix} \right)$$

$$2 e^{At} = e^{2t} \cos 3tI + \frac{e^{2t} \sin 3t}{3} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 3 \\ -3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The complex example is typical for real $n \times n$ matrices A with a complex conjugate pair of eigenvalues $\lambda_1 = \overline{\lambda}_2$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{Q}}_2 = \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1$. The result is

that λ_2 is not used and we write instead a simpler expression using the college algebra equality $z + \overline{z} = 2 \operatorname{Re}(z)$:

$$e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1 + e^{\lambda_2 t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_2 = 2 \operatorname{\mathcal{R}e} \left(e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{Q}}_1 \right).$$

This observation explains why e^{At} is real when A is real, by pairing complex conjugate eigenvalues in the spectral formula.

11.6 Jordan Form and Eigenanalysis

Generalized Eigenanalysis

The main result is Jordan's decomposition

$$A = PJP^{-1},$$

valid for any real or complex square matrix A. We describe here how to compute the invertible matrix P of generalized eigenvectors and the upper triangular matrix J, called a **Jordan form** of A.

Jordan block. An $m \times m$ upper triangular matrix $B(\lambda, m)$ is called a **Jordan block** provided all m diagonal elements are the same eigenvalue λ and all super-diagonal elements are one:

$$B(\lambda, m) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad (m \times m \text{ matrix})$$

Jordan form. Given an $n \times n$ matrix A, a **Jordan form** J for A is a block diagonal matrix

$$J = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda_1, m_1), B(\lambda_2, m_2), \dots, B(\lambda_k, m_k)),$$

where $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$ are eigenvalues of A (duplicates possible) and $m_1 + \cdots + m_k = n$. Because the eigenvalues of A are on the diagonal of J, then A has exactly k eigenpairs. If k < n, then A is non-diagonalizable. The relation $A = PJP^{-1}$ is called a **Jordan decomposition** of A. Invertible matrix P is called the **matrix of generalized eigenvectors** of A. It defines a coordinate system $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = P\vec{\mathbf{y}}$ in which the vector function $\vec{\mathbf{x}} \to A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is transformed to the simpler vector function $\vec{\mathbf{y}} \to J\vec{\mathbf{y}}$.

If equal eigenvalues are adjacent in J, then Jordan blocks with equal diagonal entries will be adjacent. Zeros can appear on the super-diagonal of J, because adjacent Jordan blocks join on the super-diagonal with a zero. A complete specification of how to build J from A appears below.

Decoding a Jordan Decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$. If J is a single Jordan block, $J = B(\lambda, m)$, then $P = \langle \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 | \dots | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m \rangle$ and AP = PJ means

$$\begin{aligned} A\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 &= \lambda \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \\ A\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 &= \lambda \vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 + \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \\ \vdots &\vdots &\vdots \\ A\vec{\mathbf{v}}_m &= \lambda \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m + \vec{\mathbf{v}}_{m-1}. \end{aligned}$$

The exploded view of the relation $AP = PB(\lambda, m)$ is called a **Jordan** chain. The formulas can be compacted via matrix $N = A - \lambda I$ into the recursion

$$N\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \vec{\mathbf{0}}, \quad N\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 = \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \dots, N\vec{\mathbf{v}}_m = \vec{\mathbf{v}}_{m-1}.$$

The first vector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ is an eigenvector. The remaining vectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m$ are **not eigenvectors**, they are called **generalized eigenvectors**. A similar formula can be written for each distinct eigenvalue of a matrix A. The collection of formulas are called **Jordan chain relations**. A given eigenvalue may appear multiple times in the chain relations, due to the appearance of two or more Jordan blocks with the same eigenvalue.

Theorem 21 (Jordan Decomposition)

Every $n \times n$ matrix A has a Jordan decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$.

Proof: The result holds by default for 1×1 matrices. Assume the result holds for all $k \times k$ matrices, k < n. The proof proceeds by induction on n.

The induction assumes that for any $k \times k$ matrix A, there is a Jordan decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$. Then the columns of P satisfy Jordan chain relations

$$A\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^{j-1}, \quad j > 1, \quad A\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^1 = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^1.$$

Conversely, if the Jordan chain relations are satisfied for k independent vectors $\{\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j\}$, then the vectors form the columns of an invertible matrix P such that $A = PJP^{-1}$ with J in Jordan form. The induction step centers upon producing the chain relations and proving that the n vectors are independent.

Let B be $n \times n$ and λ_0 an eigenvalue of B. The Jordan chain relations hold for A = B if and only if they hold for $A = B - \lambda_0 I$. Without loss of generality, we can assume 0 is an eigenvalue of B.

Because *B* has 0 as an eigenvalue, then $p = \dim(\mathbf{kernel}(B)) > 0$ and $k = \dim(\mathbf{Image}(B)) < n$, with p + k = n. If k = 0, then B = 0, which is a Jordan form, and there is nothing to prove. Assume henceforth p and k positive. Let $S = \langle \mathbf{col}(B, i_1) | \dots | \mathbf{col}(B, i_k) \rangle$ denote the matrix of pivot columns i_1, \dots, i_k of *B*. The pivot columns are known to span $\mathbf{Image}(B)$. Let *A* be the $k \times k$ basis representation matrix defined by the equation BS = SA, or equivalently, $B \operatorname{col}(S, j) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_{ij} \operatorname{col}(S, i)$. The induction hypothesis applied to *A* implies there is a basis of *k*-vectors satisfying Jordan chain relations

$$A\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^{j-1}, \quad j > 1, \quad A\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^1 = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^1.$$

The values λ_i , i = 1, ..., p, are the distinct eigenvalues of A. Apply S to these equations to obtain for the *n*-vectors $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j = S\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j$ the Jordan chain relations

$$B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j + \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{j-1}, \quad j > 1, \quad B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1 = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1.$$

Because S has independent columns and the k-vectors $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j$ are independent, then the *n*-vectors $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j$ are independent.

The **plan** is to isolate the chains for eigenvalue zero, then extend these chains by one vector. Then 1-chains will be constructed from eigenpairs for eigenvalue zero to make n generalized eigenvectors.

Suppose q values of i satisfy $\lambda_i = 0$. We allow q = 0. For simplicity, assume such values i are $i = 1, \ldots, q$. The key formula $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j = S\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i^j$ implies $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j$ is in **Image**(B), while $B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1 = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1$ implies $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_1^1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_q^1$ are in **kernel**(B). Each eigenvector $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1$ starts a Jordan chain ending in $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{m(i)}$. Then⁶ the equation $B\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{m(i)}$ has an *n*-vector solution $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$. We label $\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{m(i)+1}$. Because $\lambda_i = 0$, then $B\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{u}} + \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{m(i)}$ results in an extended Jordan chain

$$\begin{array}{rcl} B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{1} & = & \lambda_{i}\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{1} \\ B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{2} & = & \lambda_{i}\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{2} & + & \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{1} \\ & \vdots & \\ B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)} & = & \lambda_{i}\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)} & + & \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)-1} \\ B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)+1} & = & \lambda_{i}\vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)+1} & + & \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{i}^{m(i)} \end{array}$$

Let's extend the independent set $\{\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1\}_{i=1}^q$ to a basis of **kernel**(*B*) by adding s = n - k - q additional independent vectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_s$. This basis consists of eigenvectors of *B* for eigenvalue 0. Then the set of *n* vectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_r, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j$ for $1 \leq r \leq s, 1 \leq i \leq p, 1 \leq j \leq m(i) + 1$ consists of eigenvectors of *B* and vectors that satisfy Jordan chain relations. These vectors are columns of a matrix \mathcal{P} that satisfies $B\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{PJ}$ where \mathcal{J} is a Jordan form.

To prove \mathcal{P} invertible, assume a linear combination of the columns of \mathcal{P} is zero:

$$\sum_{i=q+1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{m(i)} b_i^j \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \sum_{j=1}^{m(i)+1} b_i^j \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j + \sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i \vec{\mathbf{v}}_i = \vec{\mathbf{0}}.$$

Apply B to this equation. Because $B\vec{\mathbf{w}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ for any $\vec{\mathbf{w}}$ in kernel(B), then

$$\sum_{i=q+1}^{p} \sum_{j=1}^{m(i)} b_i^j B \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j + \sum_{i=1}^{q} \sum_{j=2}^{m(i)+1} b_i^j B \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j = \vec{\mathbf{0}}.$$

The Jordan chain relations imply that the k vectors $B\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j$ in the linear combination consist of $\lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j + \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^{j-1}$, $\lambda_i \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1$, $i = q + 1, \ldots, p, j = 2, \ldots, m(i)$, plus the vectors $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j$, $1 \le i \le q$, $1 \le j \le m(i)$. Independence of the original k vectors $\{\vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^j\}$ plus $\lambda_i \ne 0$ for i > q implies this new set is independent. Then all coefficients in the linear combination are zero.

The first linear combination then reduces to $\sum_{i=1}^{q} b_i^1 \vec{\mathbf{y}}_i^1 + \sum_{i=1}^{s} c_i \vec{\mathbf{v}}_i = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$. Independence of the constructed basis for **kernel**(B) implies $b_i^1 = 0$ for $1 \le i \le q$ and $c_i = 0$ for $1 \le i \le s$. Therefore, the columns of \mathcal{P} are independent. The induction is complete.

Geometric and algebraic multiplicity. The geometric multiplicity is defined by $\text{GeoMult}(\lambda) = \dim(\text{kernel}(A - \lambda I))$, which is the number of basis vectors in a solution to $(A - \lambda I)\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$, or, equivalently, the number of free variables. The **algebraic multiplicity** is the integer $k = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda)$ such that $(r - \lambda)^k$ divides the characteristic polynomial $\det(A - \lambda I)$, but larger powers do not.

⁶The *n*-vector $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ is constructed by setting $\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$, then copy components of *k*-vector $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{i}^{m(i)}$ into pivot locations: $\mathbf{row}(\vec{\mathbf{u}}, i_{j}) = \mathbf{row}(\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{i}^{m(i)}, j), j = 1, \dots, k$.

Theorem 22 (Algebraic and Geometric Multiplicity)

Let A be a square real or complex matrix. Then

(1) $1 \leq \text{GeoMult}(\lambda) \leq \text{AlgMult}(\lambda).$

In addition, there are the following relationships between the Jordan form J and algebraic and geometric multiplicities.

$GeoMult(\lambda)$	Equals the number of Jordan blocks in J with eigenvalue λ ,
$\mathbf{AlgMult}(\lambda)$	Equals the number of times λ is repeated along the diagonal of J .

Proof: Let $d = \text{GeoMult}(\lambda_0)$. Construct a basis v_1, \ldots, v_n of \mathcal{R}^n such that v_1, \ldots, v_d is a basis for kernel $(A - \lambda_0 I)$. Define $S = \langle v_1 | \ldots | v_n \rangle$ and $B = S^{-1}AS$. The first d columns of AS are $\lambda_0 v_1, \ldots, \lambda_0 v_d$. Then $B = \left(\frac{\lambda_0 I \mid C}{0 \mid D}\right)$ for some matrices C and D. Cofactor expansion implies some polynomial g satisfies

$$\det(A - \lambda I) = \det(S(B - \lambda I)S^{-1}) = \det(B - \lambda I) = (\lambda - \lambda_0)^d g(\lambda)$$

and therefore $d \leq \text{AlgMult}(\lambda_0)$. Other details of proof are left to the reader.

Chains of generalized eigenvectors. Given an eigenvalue λ of the matrix A, the topic of generalized eigenanalysis determines a Jordan block $B(\lambda, m)$ in J by finding an *m*-chain of generalized eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m$, which appear as columns of P in the relation $A = PJP^{-1}$. The very first vector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ of the chain is an eigenvector, $(A - \lambda I)\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$. The others $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_k$ are not eigenvectors but satisfy

$$(A - \lambda I)\mathbf{\vec{v}}_2 = \mathbf{\vec{v}}_1, \quad \dots \quad , \quad (A - \lambda I)\mathbf{\vec{v}}_m = \mathbf{\vec{v}}_{m-1}.$$

Implied by the term *m*-chain is insolvability of $(A - \lambda I)\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m$. The chain size *m* is subject to the inequality $1 \le m \le \mathsf{AlgMult}(\lambda)$.

The Jordan form J may contain several Jordan blocks for one eigenvalue λ . To illustrate, if J has only one eigenvalue λ and **AlgMult**(λ) = 3, then J might be constructed as follows:

1

$$J = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1)) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix},$$
$$J = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 2)) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix},$$
$$J = B(\lambda, 3) = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix},$$

The three generalized eigenvectors for this example correspond to

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \text{Three 1-chains,}$$

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \text{One 1-chain and one 2-chain,}$$

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \text{One 3-chain.}$$

Computing *m*-chains. Let us fix the discussion to an eigenvalue λ of *A*. Define $N = A - \lambda I$ and $p = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda)$.

To compute an *m*-chain, start with an eigenvector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ and solve recursively by **rref** methods $N\vec{\mathbf{v}}_{j+1} = \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j$ until there fails to be a solution. This must seemingly be done for *all possible choices* of $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$! The search for *m*-chains terminates when *p* independent generalized eigenvectors have been calculated.

If A has an essentially unique eigenpair $(\lambda, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1)$, then this process terminates immediately with an *m*-chain where m = p. The chain produces one Jordan block $B(\lambda, m)$ and the generalized eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_m$ are recorded into the matrix P.

If $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$ form a basis for the eigenvectors of A corresponding to λ , then the problem $N\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ has 2 free variables. Therefore, we seek to find an m_1 -chain and an m_2 -chain such that $m_1 + m_2 = p$, corresponding to two Jordan blocks $B(\lambda, m_1)$ and $B(\lambda, m_2)$.

To understand the logic applied here, the reader should verify that for $\mathcal{N} = \operatorname{diag}(B(0, m_1), B(0, m_2), \ldots, B(0, m_k))$ the problem $\mathcal{N}\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ has k free variables, because \mathcal{N} is already in **rref** form. These remarks imply that a k-dimensional basis of eigenvectors of A for eigenvalue λ causes a search for m_i -chains, $1 \leq i \leq k$, such that $m_1 + \cdots + m_k = p$, corresponding to k Jordan blocks $B(\lambda, m_1), \ldots, B(\lambda, m_k)$.

A common naive approach for computing generalized eigenvectors can be illustrated by letting

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Matrix A has one eigenvalue $\lambda = 1$ and two eigenpairs $(1, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1), (1, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2)$. Starting a chain calculation with $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$ equal to either $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$ or $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$ gives a 1-chain. This naive approach leads to only two independent generalized eigenvectors. However, the calculation must proceed until three independent generalized eigenvectors have been computed. To resolve the trouble, keep a 1-chain, say the one generated by $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, and start a new chain calculation using $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = a_1 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 + a_2 \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2$. Adjust the values of a_1 , a_2 until a 2-chain has been computed:

$$\langle A - \lambda I | \vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 \rangle = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & a_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -a_1 + a_2 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & a_1 - a_2 \end{pmatrix} \approx \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & a_1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

provided $a_1 - a_2 = 0$. Choose $a_1 = a_2 = 1$ to make $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1 = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_1 + \vec{\mathbf{u}}_2 \neq \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ and solve for $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2 = (0,1,0)$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$ is a 1-chain and $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2$ is a 2-chain. The generalized eigenvectors $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1$, $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_2$ are independent and form the columns of P while $J = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 2))$ (recall $\lambda = 1$). We justify $A = PJP^{-1}$ by testing AP = PJ, using the formulas

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix}, \quad P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Jordan Decomposition using maple

Displayed here is maple code which applied to the matrix

$$A = \left(\begin{array}{rrrr} 4 & -2 & 5 \\ -2 & 4 & -3 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 \end{array}\right)$$

produces the Jordan decomposition

$$A = PJP^{-1} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 & -7 \\ -1 & 4 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 8 & -8 & 16 \\ 2 & 2 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & 4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

```
A := Matrix([[4, -2, 5], [-2, 4, -3], [0, 0, 2]]);
factor(LinearAlgebra[CharacteristicPolynomial](A,lambda));
# Answer == (lambda-6)*(lambda-2)^2
J,P:=LinearAlgebra[JordanForm](A,output=['J','Q']);
zero:=A.P-P.J; # zero matrix expected
```

Number of Jordan Blocks

In calculating generalized eigenvectors of A for eigenvalue λ , it is possible to decide in advance how many Jordan chains of size k should be computed. A practical consequence is to organize the computation for certain chain sizes.

Theorem 23 (Number of Jordan Blocks)

Given eigenvalue λ of A, define $N = A - \lambda I$, $k(j) = \dim(\mathbf{kernel}(N^j))$. Let p be the least integer such that $N^p = N^{p+1}$. Then the Jordan form of A has 2k(j-1) - k(j-2) - k(j) Jordan blocks $B(\lambda, j-1)$, $j = 3, \ldots, p$. The proof of the theorem is in the exercises, where more detail appears for p = 1 and p = 2. Complete results are in the maple code below.

An Illustration. This example is a 5×5 matrix A with one eigenvalue $\lambda = 2$ of multiplicity 5. Let s(j) = number of $j \times j$ Jordan blocks.

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & 0 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 2 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 2 & 1 \\ -3 & 3 & 0 & -2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}, N = A - 2I = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 2 & -2 & 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -3 & 3 & 0 & -2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then $N^3 = N^4 = N^5 = 0$ implies k(3) = k(4) = k(5) = 5. Further, k(2) = 4, k(1) = 2. Then s(5) = s(4) = 0, s(3) = s(2) = 1, s(1) = 0, which implies one block of each size 2 and 3.

Some maple code automates the investigation:

```
with(LinearAlgebra):
```

```
A := Matrix([
[3, -1, 1, 0, 0], [2, 0, 1, 1, 0],
[1, -1, 2, 1, 0], [-1, 1, 0, 2, 1],
[-3, 3, 0, -2, 3] ]);
lambda:=2;
n:=RowDimension(A);N:=A-lambda*IdentityMatrix(n);
for j from 1 to n do
k[j]:=n-Rank(N^j); od:
for p from n to 2 by -1 do
 if(k[p]<>k[p-1])then break; fi: od;
txt:=(j,x)->printf('if'(x=1,
 cat("B(lambda,",j,") occurs 1 time\n"),
 cat("B(lambda,",j,") occurs ",x," times\n"))):
printf("lambda=%d, nilpotency=%d\n",lambda,p);
if(p=1) then txt(1,k[1]); else
txt(p,k[p]-k[p-1]);
for j from p to 3 by -1 do
   txt(j-1,2*k[j-1]-k[j-2]-k[j]): od:
txt(1,2*k[1]-k[2]);
fi:
#lambda=2, nilpotency=3
#B(lambda,3) occurs 1 time
#B(lambda,2) occurs 1 time
#B(lambda,1) occurs 0 times
J,P:=JordanForm(A,output=['J','Q'])}:
# Answer check for the maple code
```

	$\binom{2}{2}$	1	0	0	0 \			(0	1	2	-1	0)
	0	2	1	0	0	,	$, P = \frac{1}{2}$		-4	2	2	-2	2
J =	0	0	2	0	0				-4	1	1	-1	1
	0	0	0	2	1		2		-4	-3	1	-1	1
	0	0	0	0	2 /				4	-5	-3	1	-3 /

Numerical Instability

The matrix $A = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ \varepsilon & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ has two possible Jordan forms $\begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} & \varepsilon = 0, \\ J(\varepsilon) = \begin{cases} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} & \varepsilon = 0, \end{cases}$

$$\left\{\begin{array}{c} (\varepsilon) = \\ \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 + \sqrt{\varepsilon} & 0 \\ 0 & 1 - \sqrt{\varepsilon} \end{array}\right) \quad \varepsilon > 0. \end{array}\right.$$

When $\varepsilon \approx 0$, then numerical algorithms become unstable, unable to lock onto the correct Jordan form. Briefly, $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} J(\varepsilon) \neq J(0)$.

The Real Jordan Form of A

Given a real matrix A, generalized eigenanalysis seeks to find a *real* invertible matrix \mathcal{P} and a *real* upper triangular block matrix R such that $A = \mathcal{P}R\mathcal{P}^{-1}$.

If λ is a real eigenvalue of A, then a **real Jordan block** is a matrix

$$B = \operatorname{diag}(\lambda, \dots, \lambda) + N, \quad N = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \cdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

If $\lambda = a + ib$ is a complex eigenvalue of A, then symbols λ , 1 and 0 are replaced respectively by 2×2 real matrices $\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix}$, $\mathcal{I} = \mathbf{diag}(1, 1)$ and $\mathcal{O} = \mathbf{diag}(0, 0)$. The corresponding $2m \times 2m$ real Jordan block matrix is given by the formula

$$B = \operatorname{diag}(\Lambda, \dots, \Lambda) + \mathcal{N}, \quad \mathcal{N} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{I} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{I} \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \end{pmatrix}$$

Direct Sum Decomposition

The generalized eigenspace of eigenvalue λ of an $n \times n$ matrix A is the subspace kernel $((A - \lambda I)^p)$ where $p = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda)$. We state without proof the main result for generalized eigenspace bases, because details appear in the exercises. A proof is included for the direct sum decomposition, even though Putzer's spectral theory independently produces the same decomposition.

Theorem 24 (Generalized Eigenspace Basis)

The subspace kernel $((A - \lambda I)^k)$, $k = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda)$ has a k-dimensional basis whose vectors are the columns of P corresponding to blocks $B(\lambda, j)$ of J, in Jordan decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$.

Theorem 25 (Direct Sum Decomposition)

Given $n \times n$ matrix A and distinct eigenvalues $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_k$, $n_1 = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda_i)$, ..., $n_k = \text{AlgMult}(\lambda_i)$, then A induces a direct sum decomposition

$$\mathcal{C}^n = \mathbf{kernel}((A - \lambda_1 I)^{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbf{kernel}((A - \lambda_k I)^{n_k}))$$

This equation means that each complex vector $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ in \mathcal{C}^n can be uniquely written as

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_1 + \dots + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_k$$

where each $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i$ belongs to kernel $((A - \lambda_i)^{n_i})$, $i = 1, \ldots, k$.

Proof: The previous theorem implies there is a basis of dimension n_i for $E_i \equiv \text{kernel}((A - \lambda_i I)^{n_i}), i = 1, ..., k$. Because $n_1 + \cdots + n_k = n$, then there are n vectors in the union of these bases. The independence test for these n vectors amounts to showing that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_1 + \cdots + \vec{\mathbf{x}}_k = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ with $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i$ in $E_i, i = 1, ..., k$, implies all $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_i = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$. This will be true provided $E_i \cap E_j = \{\vec{\mathbf{0}}\}$ for $i \neq j$.

Let's assume a Jordan decomposition $A = PJP^{-1}$. If $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ is common to both E_i and E_j , then basis expansion of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ in both subspaces implies a linear combination of the columns of P is zero, which by independence of the columns of P implies $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$.

The proof is complete.

Computing Exponential Matrices

Discussed here are methods for finding a real exponential matrix e^{At} when A is real. Two formulas are given, one for a real eigenvalue and one for a complex eigenvalue. These formulas supplement the spectral formulas given earlier in the text.

Nilpotent matrices. A matrix N which satisfies $N^p = 0$ for some integer p is called **nilpotent**. The least integer p for which $N^p = 0$ is called the **nilpotency** of N. A nilpotent matrix N has a finite exponential series:

$$e^{Nt} = I + Nt + N^2 \frac{t^2}{2!} + \dots + N^{p-1} \frac{t^{p-1}}{(p-1)!}$$

If $N = B(\lambda, p) - \lambda I$, then the finite sum has a splendidly simple expression. Due to $e^{\lambda t + Nt} = e^{\lambda t} e^{Nt}$, this proves the following result.

Theorem 26 (Exponential of a Jordan Block Matrix)

If λ is real and

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda & 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & \lambda & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \lambda \end{pmatrix} \quad (p \times p \text{ matrix})$$

then

$$e^{Bt} = e^{\lambda t} \left(\begin{array}{ccccc} 1 & t & \frac{t^2}{2} & \cdots & \frac{t^{p-2}}{(p-2)!} & \frac{t^{p-1}}{(p-1)!} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 1 & t \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 1 \end{array} \right)$$

9

The equality also holds if λ is a complex number, in which case both sides of the equation are complex.

Real Exponentials for Complex λ . A Jordan decomposition $A = \mathcal{P}J\mathcal{P}^{-1}$, in which A has only real eigenvalues, has real generalized eigenvectors appearing as columns in the matrix \mathcal{P} , in the natural order given in J. When $\lambda = a + ib$ is complex, b > 0, then the real and imaginary parts of each generalized eigenvector are entered pairwise into \mathcal{P} ; the conjugate eigenvalue $\overline{\lambda} = a - ib$ is skipped. The complex entry along the diagonal of J is changed into a 2×2 matrix under the correspondence

$$a + ib \leftrightarrow \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ -b & a \end{array} \right).$$

The result is a *real* matrix \mathcal{P} and a *real* block upper triangular matrix J which satisfy $A = \mathcal{P}J\mathcal{P}^{-1}$.

Theorem 27 (Real Block Diagonal Matrix, Eigenvalue a + ib)

Let $\Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix}$, $\mathcal{I} = \operatorname{diag}(1,1)$ and $\mathcal{O} = \operatorname{diag}(0,0)$. Consider a real Jordan block matrix of dimension $2m \times 2m$ given by the formula

$$B = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda & \mathcal{I} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \Lambda & \mathcal{I} \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \Lambda \end{pmatrix}$$

If
$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{pmatrix} \cos bt & \sin bt \\ -\sin bt & \cos bt \end{pmatrix}$$
, then
 $e^{Bt} = e^{at} \begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{R} & t\mathcal{R} & \frac{t^2}{2}\mathcal{R} & \cdots & \frac{t^{m-2}}{(m-2)!}\mathcal{R} & \frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!}\mathcal{R} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{R} & t\mathcal{R} \\ \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{O} & \cdots & \mathcal{O} & \mathcal{R} \end{pmatrix}$.

Solving $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. The solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$ must be real if A is real. The real solution can be expressed as $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \mathcal{P}\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ where $\vec{\mathbf{y}}'(t) = R\vec{\mathbf{y}}(t)$ and R is a real Jordan form of A, containing real Jordan blocks B_1, \ldots, B_k down its diagonal. Theorems above provide explicit formulas for the block matrices $e^{B_i t}$ in the relation

$$e^{Rt} = \operatorname{diag}\left(e^{B_1t}, \dots, e^{B_kt}\right).$$

The resulting formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \mathcal{P}e^{Rt}\mathcal{P}^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0)$$

contains only real numbers, real exponentials, plus sine and cosine terms, which are possibly multiplied by polynomials in t.

Exercises 11.6

Jordan block. Write out explicitly.	20.				
1.	Generalized eigenvectors. Find all				
2.	generalized eigenvectors and represent $A = PJP^{-1}$.				
3.	21.				
4.	22.				
Jordan form. Which are Jordan	23.				
s	24.				
ə.	25.				
6.	26.				
7.	27.				
8.	28.				
Decoding $A = PJP^{-1}$. Decode	29.				
$A = PJP^{-1}$ in each case, displaying combinity the Lordon chain relations	30.				
explicitly the Jordan chain relations.	31.				
9.	32.				
10. 11.	Computing <i>m</i> -chains. Find the Jordan chains for the given eigenvalue.				
12.	33.				
Complete in the lists of the	34.				
mine the geometric multiplicity. Deter-	35				
$GeoMult(\lambda)$.	36				
13.	30.				
14.	37.				
15.	38.				
16.	39.				
Algebraic multiplicity Determine	40.				
the algebraic multiplicity $AlgMult(\lambda)$.	Jordan Decomposition. Use maple to find the Jordan decomposition.				
17.	41.				
18.	42.				
19.	43.				

44.
45.
45.
46.
46.
47.
48.
Number of Jordan Blocks. Outlined
here is the derivation of

$$s(j) = 2k(j-1) - k(j) - k(j-2)$$
.
47.
48.
Number of Jordan Blocks. Outlined
here is the derivation of
 $s(j) = 2k(j-1) - k(j) - k(j-2)$.
54. Test the formulas above on the
special matrices
 $A = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1)),$
 $A = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 3)),$
 $A = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 1), B(\lambda, 3),$
 $A = \operatorname{diag}(B(\lambda, 1),$

67	81.				
65. 	82.				
67.	Real Exponentials. Compute the				
68.	the answer in maple.				
69.	83.				
70.	84.				
Exponential Matrices. Compute the	85.				
exponential matrix on paper and then check the answer using maple.	86.				
71.	Real Jordan Form. Find the real Jor-				
72.	dan form. 87. 88.				
73.					
74.					
75.	89.				
76.	90.				
77.	Solving $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. Solve the differential equation.				
78.					
Nilpotent matrices. Find the nilpotency of N .	91. 92.				
79.	93.				
80.	94.				

11.7 Nonhomogeneous Linear Systems

Variation of Parameters

The **method of variation of parameters** is a general method for solving a linear nonhomogeneous system

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t).$$

Historically, it was a trial solution method, whereby the nonhomogeneous system is solved using a trial solution of the form

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0(t).$$

In this formula, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0(t)$ is a vector function to be determined. The method is imagined to originate by varying $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ in the general solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ of the linear homogenous system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$. Hence was coined the names variation of parameters and variation of constants.

Modern use of variation of parameters is through a formula, memorized for routine use.

Theorem 28 (Variation of Parameters for Systems)

Let A be a constant $n \times n$ matrix and $\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$ a continuous function near $t = t_0$. The unique solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ of the matrix initial value problem

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t), \quad \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0,$$

is given by the variation of parameters formula

(1)
$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 + e^{At} \int_{t_0}^t e^{-rA} \vec{\mathbf{F}}(r) dr.$$

Proof of (1). Define

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 + \int_{t_0}^t e^{-rA} \vec{\mathbf{F}}(r) dr.$$

To show (1) holds, we must verify $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{At}\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$. First, the function $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$ is differentiable with continuous derivative $e^{-tA}\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$, by the fundamental theorem of calculus applied to each of its components. The product rule of calculus applies to give

$$\begin{aligned} \vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) &= (e^{At})' \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) + e^{At} \vec{\mathbf{u}}'(t) \\ &= Ae^{At} \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) + e^{At} e^{-At} \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t) \\ &= A \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ satisfies the differential equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$. Because $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, which shows the initial condition is also satisfied. The proof is complete.

Undetermined Coefficients

The trial solution method known as the method of undetermined coefficients can be applied to vector-matrix systems $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}} + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t)$ when the components of $\vec{\mathbf{F}}$ are sums of terms of the form

(polynomial in t) $e^{at}(\cos(bt) \text{ or } \sin(bt))$.

Such terms are known as **Euler solution atoms**. It is usually efficient to write $\vec{\mathbf{F}}$ in terms of the columns $\vec{\mathbf{e}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{e}}_n$ of the $n \times n$ identity matrix I, as the combination

$$\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} F_j(t) \vec{\mathbf{e}}_j.$$

Then

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \vec{\mathbf{x}}_j(t),$$

where $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_{i}(t)$ is a particular solution of the simpler equation

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + f(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}, \quad f = F_j, \quad \vec{\mathbf{c}} = \vec{\mathbf{e}}_j.$$

An initial trial solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) + f(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ can be determined from the following **initial trial solution rule**:

Assume f(t) is a sum of Euler atoms. Identify independent functions whose linear combinations give all derivatives of f(t). Let the initial trial solution be a linear combination of these functions with undetermined vector coefficients $\{\vec{c}_i\}$.

In the well-known scalar case, the trial solution must be modified if its terms contain any portion of the general solution to the homogeneous equation. In the vector case, if f(t) is a polynomial, then the *correction rule* for the initial trial solution is avoided by assuming the matrix A is invertible. This assumption means that r = 0 is not a root of det(A - rI) = 0, which prevents the homogeneous solution from having any polynomial terms.

The initial vector trial solution is substituted into the differential equation to find the undetermined coefficients $\{\vec{c}_j\}$, hence finding a particular solution.

Theorem 29 (Polynomial solutions)

Let $f(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} p_j \frac{t^j}{j!}$ be a polynomial of degree k. Assume A is an $n \times n$ constant invertible matrix. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}} + f(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ has a polynomial solution $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{c}}_j \frac{t^j}{j!}$ of degree k with vector coefficients $\{\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j\}$ given by the relations

$$\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j = -\sum_{i=j}^k p_i A^{j-i-1} \vec{\mathbf{c}}, \quad 0 \le j \le k.$$

Theorem 30 (Polynomial × exponential solutions)

Let $g(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} p_j \frac{t^j}{j!}$ be a polynomial of degree k. Assume A is an $n \times n$ constant matrix and B = A - aI is invertible. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}} + e^{at}g(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ has a polynomial-exponential solution $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = e^{at}\sum_{j=0}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{c}}_j \frac{t^j}{j!}$ with vector coefficients $\{\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j\}$ given by the relations

$$\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j = -\sum_{i=j}^k p_i B^{j-i-1} \vec{\mathbf{c}}, \quad 0 \le j \le k$$

Proof of Theorem 29. Substitute $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{j} \frac{t^{j}}{j!}$ into the differential equation, then

$$\sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{j+1} \frac{t^j}{j!} = A \sum_{j=0}^k \vec{\mathbf{c}}_j \frac{t^j}{j!} + \sum_{j=0}^k p_j \frac{t^j}{j!} \vec{\mathbf{c}}.$$

Then terms on the right for j = k must add to zero and the others match the left side coefficients of $t^j/j!$, giving the relations

$$A\vec{\mathbf{c}}_k + p_k\vec{\mathbf{c}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{j+1} = A\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j + p_j\vec{\mathbf{c}}.$$

Solving these relations recursively gives the formulas

$$\vec{\mathbf{c}}_{k} = -p_{k}A^{-1}\vec{\mathbf{c}}, \\ \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{k-1} = -(p_{k-1}A^{-1} + p_{k}A^{-2})\vec{\mathbf{c}}, \\ \vdots \\ \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{0} = -(p_{0}A^{-1} + \dots + p_{k}A^{-k-1})\vec{\mathbf{c}}.$$

The relations above can be summarized by the formula

$$\vec{\mathbf{c}}_j = -\sum_{i=j}^k p_i A^{j-i-1} \vec{\mathbf{c}}, \quad 0 \le j \le k.$$

The calculation shows that if $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} \vec{\mathbf{c}}_{j} \frac{t^{j}}{j!}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{c}}_{j}$ is given by the last formula, then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)$ substituted into the differential equation gives matching LHS and RHS. The proof is complete.

Proof of Theorem 30. Let $\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = e^{at}\vec{\mathbf{v}}(t)$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = A\vec{\mathbf{u}} + e^{at}g(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$ implies $\vec{\mathbf{v}}' = (A - aI)\vec{\mathbf{v}} + g(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$. Apply Theorem 29 to $\vec{\mathbf{v}}' = B\vec{\mathbf{v}} + g(t)\vec{\mathbf{c}}$. The proof is complete.

11.8 Second-order Systems

A model problem for second order systems is the system of three masses coupled by springs studied in section 11.1, equation (6):

(1)
$$\begin{array}{rcl} m_1 x_1''(t) &=& -k_1 x_1(t) + k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)], \\ m_2 x_2''(t) &=& -k_2 [x_2(t) - x_1(t)] + k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)], \\ m_3 x_3''(t) &=& -k_3 [x_3(t) - x_2(t)] - k_4 x_3(t). \end{array}$$



Figure 22. Three masses connected by springs. The masses slide on a frictionless surface.

In vector-matrix form, this system is a second order system

$$M\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = K\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$$

where the **displacement** $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, mass matrix M and stiffness matrix K are defined by the formulas

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ x_2 \\ x_3 \end{pmatrix}, \ M = \begin{pmatrix} m_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & m_2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & m_3 \end{pmatrix}, \ K = \begin{pmatrix} -k_1 - k_2 & k_2 & 0 \\ k_2 & -k_2 - k_3 & k_3 \\ 0 & k_3 & -k_3 - k_4 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Because M is invertible, the system can always be written as

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}, \quad A = M^{-1}K.$$

Converting $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ to $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$

Given a second order $n \times n$ system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, define the variable $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and the $2n \times 2n$ block matrix C as follows.

(2)
$$\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}' \end{pmatrix}, \quad C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & I \\ \hline A & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then each solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ of the second order system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ produces a corresponding solution $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ of the first order system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$. Similarly, each solution $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ gives a solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ by the formula $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = \mathbf{diag}(I, 0)\vec{\mathbf{u}}$.

Euler's Substitution $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}$

The fundamental substitution of L. Euler applies to vector-matrix differential systems. In particular, for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, the equation $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = e^{\lambda t}\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ produces the **characteristic equation**

$$\det(A - \lambda^2 I) = 0,$$

and the eigenpair equation

$$\vec{\mathbf{v}} = \lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{v}}, \quad \vec{\mathbf{v}} \neq \vec{\mathbf{0}}.$$

This eigenpair equation means that $(\lambda^2, \vec{\mathbf{v}})$ is an eigenpair of the matrix A.

Negative eigenvalues of A produce complex conjugate values for λ . For instance, $\lambda^2 = -4$ implies $\lambda = \pm 2i$, and then, even though vector $\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ has real components, the solution $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}$ is a vector with complex entries: $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = e^{2it} \vec{\mathbf{v}} = \cos(2t)\vec{\mathbf{v}} + i\sin(2t)\vec{\mathbf{v}}$.

Details. Compute $\vec{\mathbf{x}}' = \frac{d}{dt} e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}} = \lambda e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}} = \lambda \vec{\mathbf{x}}$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = \lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{x}}$. If $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = e^{\lambda t} \vec{\mathbf{v}}$ is a nonzero solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, then $\lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{x}} = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ holds, which is equivalent to $\lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{v}} = A\vec{\mathbf{v}}$. Then $(\lambda^2, \vec{\mathbf{v}})$ is an eigenpair of A. Conversely, if $(\lambda^2, \vec{\mathbf{v}})$ is an eigenpair of A, then the steps reverse to obtain $\lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{x}} = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, which means that $\vec{\mathbf{x}} = e^{\lambda t}\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ is a nonzero solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$.

By linear algebra, the equation $A\vec{\mathbf{v}} = \lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{v}}$ has a solution $\vec{\mathbf{v}} \neq \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ if and only if the homogeneous problem $(A - \lambda^2 I)\vec{\mathbf{v}} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$ has infinitely many solutions. Cramer's Rule implies this event happens exactly when $\det(A - \lambda^2 I) = 0$.

Characteristic Equation for $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$

The characteristic equation for the $n \times n$ second order system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ will be derived anew from the corresponding $2n \times 2n$ first order system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$. We will prove the following identity.

Theorem 31 (Characteristic Equation)

Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ be given with $n \times n$ constant matrix A. Let $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ be its corresponding first order system, where

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{x}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}' \end{pmatrix}, \quad C = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & | I \\ \hline A & | 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then

(3)
$$\det(C - \lambda I) = (-1)^n \det(A - \lambda^2 I).$$

Proof: The method of proof is to verify the product formula

$$\left(\begin{array}{c|c} -\lambda I & I \\ \hline A & -\lambda I \end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c|c} I & 0 \\ \hline \lambda I & I \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} 0 & I \\ \hline A - \lambda^2 I & -\lambda I \end{array}\right).$$

Then the determinant product formula applies to give

(4)
$$\det(C - \lambda I) \det\left(\frac{I \mid 0}{\lambda I \mid I}\right) = \det\left(\frac{0 \mid I}{A - \lambda^2 I \mid -\lambda I}\right).$$

Cofactor expansion is applied to give the two identities

$$\det\left(\frac{I \mid 0}{\lambda I \mid I}\right) = 1, \quad \det\left(\frac{0 \mid I}{A - \lambda^2 I \mid -\lambda I}\right) = (-1)^n \det(A - \lambda^2 I).$$

Then (4) implies (3). The proof is complete.

Solving $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$

Consider the $n \times n$ second order system $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ and its corresponding $2n \times 2n$ first order system $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$, where

(5)
$$C = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} 0 & I \\ \hline A & 0 \end{array}\right), \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \vec{\mathbf{x}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}'} \end{array}\right).$$

Theorem 32 (Eigenanalysis of A and C)

Let A be a given $n\times n$ constant matrix and define the corresponding $2n\times 2n$ system by

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}, \quad C = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} 0 & I \\ \hline A & 0 \end{array}\right), \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \vec{\mathbf{x}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}' \end{array}\right).$$

Then

(6)
$$(C - \lambda I) \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{w}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{z}} \end{pmatrix} = \vec{\mathbf{0}}$$
 if and only if $\begin{cases} A\vec{\mathbf{w}} = \lambda^2 \vec{\mathbf{w}}, \\ \vec{\mathbf{z}} = \lambda \vec{\mathbf{w}}. \end{cases}$

Proof: The result is obtained by block multiplication, because

$$C - \lambda I = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} -\lambda I & I \\ \hline A & -\lambda I \end{array} \right).$$

Theorem 33 (General Solutions of $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$) Let A be a given $n \times n$ constant matrix and define the corresponding $2n \times 2n$ system by

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}, \quad C = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} 0 & I \\ \hline A & 0 \end{array}\right), \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}} = \left(\begin{array}{c|c} \vec{\mathbf{x}} \\ \vec{\mathbf{x}}' \end{array}\right).$$

Assume C has eigenpairs $\{(\lambda_j, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_j)\}_{j=1}^{2n}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{2n}$ are independent. Let I denote the $n \times n$ identity and define $\vec{\mathbf{w}}_j = \operatorname{diag}(I, 0)\vec{\mathbf{y}}_j, j = 1, \ldots, 2n$. Then $\vec{\mathbf{u}}' = C\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$ have general solutions

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}(t) = c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{y}}_1 + \dots + c_{2n} e^{\lambda_{2n} t} \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{2n} \qquad (2n \times 1),$$

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = c_1 e^{\lambda_1 t} \vec{\mathbf{w}}_1 + \dots + c_{2n} e^{\lambda_{2n} t} \vec{\mathbf{w}}_{2n} \qquad (n \times 1).$$

Proof: Let $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_j(t) = e^{\lambda_j t} \vec{\mathbf{w}}_j$, j = 1, ..., 2n. Then $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_j$ is a solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'' = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}$, because $\vec{\mathbf{x}}_j''(t) = e^{\lambda_j t} (\lambda_j)^2 \vec{\mathbf{w}}_j = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}_j(t)$, by Theorem 32. To be verified is the independence of the solutions $\{\vec{\mathbf{x}}_j\}_{j=1}^{2n}$. Let $\vec{\mathbf{z}}_j = \lambda_j \vec{\mathbf{w}}_j$ and apply Theorem 32 to write $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_j = \begin{pmatrix} \vec{\mathbf{w}}_j \\ \vec{\mathbf{z}}_j \end{pmatrix}$, $A\vec{\mathbf{w}}_j = \lambda_j^2 \vec{\mathbf{w}}_j$. Suppose constants a_1, \ldots, a_{2n} are given such that $\sum_{j=1}^{2n} a_k \vec{\mathbf{x}}_j = 0$. Differentiate this relation to give $\sum_{j=1}^{2n} a_k e^{\lambda_j t} \vec{\mathbf{z}}_j = 0$ for all t. Set t = 0 in the last summation and combine to obtain $\sum_{j=1}^{2n} a_k \vec{\mathbf{y}}_j = 0$. Independence of $\vec{\mathbf{y}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_{2n}$ implies that $a_1 = \cdots = a_{2n} = 0$. The proof is complete.

Eigenanalysis when A has Negative Eigenvalues. If all eigenvalues μ of A are negative or zero, then, for some $\omega \ge 0$, eigenvalue μ is related to an eigenvalue λ of C by the relation $\mu = -\omega^2 = \lambda^2$. Then $\lambda = \pm \omega i$ and $\omega = \sqrt{|\mu|}$. Consider an eigenpair $(-\omega^2, \vec{\mathbf{v}})$ of the real $n \times n$ matrix A with $\omega \ge 0$ and let

$$u(t) = \begin{cases} c_1 \cos \omega t + c_2 \sin \omega t & \omega > 0, \\ c_1 + c_2 t & \omega = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then $u''(t) = -\omega^2 u(t)$ (both sides are zero for $\omega = 0$). It follows that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = u(t)\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ satisfies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = -\omega^2 \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ and $A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = u(t)A\vec{\mathbf{v}} = -\omega^2 \vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$. Therefore, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = u(t)\vec{\mathbf{v}}$ satisfies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$.

Theorem 34 (Eigenanalysis Solution of $\vec{x}'' = A\vec{x}$)

Let the $n \times n$ real matrix A have eigenpairs $\{(\mu_j, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j)\}_{j=1}^n$. Assume $\mu_j = -\omega_j^2$ with $\omega_j \ge 0$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$. Assume that $\vec{\mathbf{v}}_1, \ldots, \vec{\mathbf{v}}_n$ are linearly independent. Then the general solution of $\vec{\mathbf{x}}''(t) = A\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is given in terms of 2n arbitrary constants $a_1, \ldots, a_n, b_1, \ldots, b_n$ by the formula

(7)
$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \left(a_j \cos \omega_j t + b_j \frac{\sin \omega_j t}{\omega_j} \right) \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j$$

This expression uses the limit convention $\left. \frac{\sin \omega t}{\omega} \right|_{\omega=0} = t.$

Proof: The text preceding the theorem and superposition establish that $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(t)$ is a solution. It only remains to prove that it is the general solution, meaning that the arbitrary constants can be assigned to allow any possible initial condition $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$, $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(0) = \vec{\mathbf{y}}_0$. Define the constants uniquely by the relations

$$\vec{\mathbf{x}}_0 = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j, \vec{\mathbf{y}}_0 = \sum_{j=1}^n b_j \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j,$$

which is possible by the assumed independence of the vectors $\{\vec{\mathbf{v}}_j\}_{j=1}^n$. Then equation (7) implies $\vec{\mathbf{x}}(0) = \sum_{j=1}^n a_j \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j = \vec{\mathbf{x}}_0$ and $\vec{\mathbf{x}}'(0) = \sum_{j=1}^n b_j \vec{\mathbf{v}}_j = \vec{\mathbf{y}}_0$. The proof is complete.

11.9 Numerical Methods for Systems

An initial value problem for a system of two differential equations is given by the equations

(1) $\begin{aligned}
x'(t) &= f(t, x(t), y(t)), \\
y'(t) &= g(t, x(t), y(t)), \\
x(t_0) &= x_0, \\
y(t_0) &= y_0.
\end{aligned}$

A numerical method for (1) is an algorithm that computes an approximate dot table with first line t_0 , x_0 , y_0 . Generally, the dot table has equally spaced *t*-values, two consecutive *t*-values differing by a constant value $h \neq 0$, called the **step size**. To illustrate, if $t_0 = 2$, $x_0 = 5$, $y_0 = 100$, then a typical dot table for step size h = 0.1 might look like

t	x	y
2.0	5.00	100.00
2.1	5.57	103.07
2.2	5.62	104.10
2.3	5.77	102.15
2.4	5.82	101.88
2.5	5.96	100.55

Graphics. The dot table represents the data needed to plot a solution curve to system (1) in three dimensions (t, x, y) or in two dimensions, using a tx-scene or a ty-scene. In all cases, the plot is a simple connect-the-dots graphic.



Figure 23. Dot table plots.

The three dimensional plot is a space curve made directly from the dot table. The tx-scene and the ty-scene are made from the same dot table using corresponding data columns.

Myopic Algorithms. All of the popular algorithms for generating a numerical dot table for system (1) are **near-sighted**, because they predict the next line in the dot table from the current dot table line, ignoring effects and errors for all other preceding dot table lines. Among such algorithms are **Euler's method**, **Heun's method** and the **RK4 method**.

Numerical Algorithms: Planar Case

Stated here without proof are three numerical algorithms for solving twodimensional initial value problems (1). Justification of the formulas is obtained from the vector relations in the next subsection.

Notation. Let t_0 , x_0 , y_0 denote the entries of the dot table on a particular line. Let h be the increment for the dot table and let $t_0 + h$, x, y stand for the dot table entries on the next line.

Planar Euler Method.

$$\begin{aligned} x &= x_0 + hf(t_0, x_0, y_0), \\ y &= y_0 + hg(t_0, x_0, y_0). \end{aligned}$$

Planar Heun Method.

 $\begin{array}{rcl} x_1 &=& x_0 + hf(t_0, x_0, y_0), \\ y_1 &=& y_0 + hg(t_0, x_0, y_0), \\ x &=& x_0 + h(f(t_0, x_0, y_0) + f(t_0 + h, x_1, y_1))/2 \\ y &=& y_0 + h(g(t_0, x_0, y_0) + g(t_0 + h, x_1, y_1))/2. \end{array}$

Planar RK4 Method.

$$\begin{array}{rcl} k_1 &=& hf(t_0, x_0, y_0), \\ m_1 &=& hg(t_0, x_0, y_0), \\ k_2 &=& hf(t_0+h/2, x_0+k_1/2, y_0+m_1/2) \\ m_2 &=& hg(t_0+h/2, x_0+k_2/2, y_0+m_2/2) \\ k_3 &=& hf(t_0+h/2, x_0+k_2/2, y_0+m_2/2) \\ m_3 &=& hg(t_0+h/2, x_0+k_3, y_0+m_3), \\ m_4 &=& hf(t_0+h, x_0+k_3, y_0+m_3), \\ m_4 &=& hg(t_0+h, x_0+k_3, y_0+m_3), \\ x &=& x_0+\frac{1}{6}\left(k_1+2k_2+2k_3+k_4\right), \\ y &=& y_0+\frac{1}{6}\left(m_1+2m_2+2m_3+m_4\right). \end{array}$$

Numerical Algorithms: General Case

Consider a vector initial value problem

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}}'(t) = \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t, \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t)), \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}}(t_0) = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0.$$

Described here are the vector formulas for Euler, Heun and RK4 methods. These myopic algorithms predict the next table dot $t_0 + h$, $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ from the current dot t_0 , $\vec{\mathbf{u}}_0$. The number of scalar values in a table dot is 1 + n, where *n* is the dimension of the vectors $\vec{\mathbf{u}}$ and $\vec{\mathbf{F}}$.
Vector Euler Method.

$$\vec{\mathbf{u}} = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + h\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t_0, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0)$$

Vector Heun Method.

$$\vec{\mathbf{w}} = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + h\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t_0, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0), \quad \vec{\mathbf{u}} = \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + \frac{h}{2} \left(\vec{\mathbf{F}}(t_0, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0) + \vec{\mathbf{F}}(t_0 + h, \vec{\mathbf{w}}) \right)$$

Vector RK4 Method.

$$\begin{split} \vec{\mathbf{k}}_1 &= h \vec{\mathbf{F}} \left(t_0, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 \right), \\ \vec{\mathbf{k}}_1 &= h \vec{\mathbf{F}} \left(t_0 + h/2, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + \vec{\mathbf{k}}_1/2 \right), \\ \vec{\mathbf{k}}_1 &= h \vec{\mathbf{F}} \left(t_0 + h/2, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + \vec{\mathbf{k}}_2/2 \right), \\ \vec{\mathbf{k}}_1 &= h \vec{\mathbf{F}} \left(t_0 + h, \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + \vec{\mathbf{k}}_3 \right), \\ \vec{\mathbf{u}} &= \vec{\mathbf{u}}_0 + \frac{1}{6} \left(\vec{\mathbf{k}}_1 + 2 \vec{\mathbf{k}}_2 + 2 \vec{\mathbf{k}}_3 + \vec{\mathbf{k}}_4 \right). \end{split}$$

Index

Α

Absorption, 16 Annual interest rate, 18 Argon-40, 20 Auto loan, 22

В

Baking a roast, 10 Beef roast, 10 Birth-death rate, 6 Bloodstream injection, 27 Braun, 9 Braun, M., 20 Brightness and lumen, 16

\mathbf{C}

Calcium-40, 20 Candela, 16 Carbon-14, 19 Atmospheric ratio, 25 Atmospheric replenishment, 19 Carrying capacity, 7 Certificate of deposit, 23 Charge in coulombs, 17 Chemical reaction, 26 Compound interest, 18, 22 Continuous interest, 18 Coulomb's law, 18 Current in amperes, 17

D

Daily interest, 18 Daily interest rate, 23 Decay constant, 19 Decay model, 3 Dial thermometer, 5 Dinosaur fossil, 25 Drug dosage, 27 \mathbf{E}

Effective annual yield, 23 Elimination constant of a drug, 21 Engineering firm and retirement, 24 Exponential roperties, 2 Exponential Application Library Radiocarbon Dating, 19 Tree Rings, 20 Exponential Modeling How to Solve a Growth-Decay Equation, 4 Malthusian Population Model, 6 Stirring Effects, 5 Verhulst Logistic Model, 6 Exposure meter, 16

\mathbf{F}

Faraday's law, 18 First-order reaction, 21 Flask cooling, 5, 9 Foot-candle, 16

G

Geometric sum formula, 19 Grace period, 22 Growth model, 3 Growth-decay differential equation, 4 Growth-decay initial value problem, 4

\mathbf{H}

Half-life, 20 Radium, 25 Hot chocolate, 5 How to Solve a Growth-Decay Equation, 4 Human world population, 5

Ι

Initial condition, 4 initial state, 4 Intensity and Lux, 16

INDEX

Inverse square law, 16 Isotope disintegration, 26

J

Jeweler's bench experiment, 16 \mathbf{K}

Kümmer, E.E., 11 Kirchhoff's voltage law, 17

L

Law of mass action, 21 Libby, 25 Libby, Willard S., 19 Light intensity in a lake, 21 Logarithm Properties, 2 Logistic equation, 6 LR-circuit, 17, 18, 22 Lumen unit, 16 Lux, 16 \mathbf{M}

Malthus's law, 6 Malthusian Population Model, 6 Meat thermometer, 10 Microtus Arvallis Pall, 9

N

Newton cooling Curious conditions, 5 Solution, 5 Newton's cooling law, 4 Nobel Prize 1960 Libby, 19 Node law of Kirchhoff, 17

0

Ohm's law, 18 Oven, 10 Ρ

 \mathbf{Q}

photocell, 16 Photon, 16 Population, 6 Population flux, 6 Potassium-40, 20

Quarterly interest, 18 \mathbf{R}

Radioactive decay, 19 Radiocarbon Dating, 19 Radium-224, 25 Radium-226, 25 Radius of the earth, 8 Radon, 25 Rate per annum, 18 RC-circuit, 17, 18, 22 Reaction constant, 21 Retirement funds, 24 Roast, 10 Rodent growth, 8

\mathbf{S}

Second-order reaction, 21 Simple interest, 18 Sodium pentobarbital, 27 Standing room only, 8 Stirring Effects, 5

\mathbf{T}

T-butyl alcohol, 26 T-butyl chloride, 26 Tree Rings, 20 Tree rings Sequoia, 20

U

Uranium-238, 20 \mathbf{V}

Verhulst Logistic Model, 6 Verhulst, P.F., 6 Veterinarian, 27 Voltage drop, 18

W

Wall thermometer, 5

Х

Zill-Cullen, 21

903